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Translation of Consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the
regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group (see Notes 2 and 27). In the event of a
discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Notes 1 to 3)

ASSETS

Notes

Thousands of
euros
31/12/2011

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Goodwill and other intangible assets

(Note 5)

Property, plant and equipment

(Note 6)

189,721

Investment property

(Note 7)

1,020,878

Investments accounted for using the equity method

(Note 8)

7,361,895

Financial assets

(Note 9)

227,315

Available-for-sale financial assets

136,459

Loans and receivables
Deferred tax assets

758,972

90,856
(Note 17)

Total non-current assets

379,493
9,938,274

CURRENT ASSETS
Non-current assets classified as held for sale

(Note 11)

1,965,331

Inventories

(Note 10)

1,769,052

Current financial assets

(Note 9)

45,393

Other current assets
Tax assets

566,907
(Note 17)

Dividends receivable

126,978

Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

433,732
6,197

(Note 12)

Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

241,433
4,588,116
14,526,390

The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and the Appendices are an integral part of
the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2011.

-4-

Translation of Consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance
with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group (see Notes 2 and 27).
In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Notes 1 to 3)
Thousands of euros
LIABILITIES
EQUITY:
Share capital, reserves and results
Share capital
Share premium
Reserves
Profit attributable to the Group
Interim dividend paid
Valuation adjustments
Non-controlling interests

Notes

31/12/2011

(Note 13)

(Note 13)
(Note 13)

Total equity

9,789,794
3,225,000
5,960,720
603,190
200,884
(200,000)
(16,286)
344,893
10,118,401

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term provisions
Long-term payables
Deferred tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Derivatives
Other long-term liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Bank borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Financial derivatives
Tax liabilities
Deferred income
Other current liabilities

(Note 14)
(Note 15)
(Note 17)
(Note 16)
(Note 16)

(Note 15)

(Note 16)
(Note 17)

Total current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and the Appendices are an integral part of
the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2011.

187,909
3,310,680
350,725
152,601
15,268
137,333
4,001,915

364,396
323,610
40,786
558
7,763
21,647
11,710
406,074
14,526,390
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Translation of Consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with
the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group (see Notes 2 and 27). In the event
of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Notes 1 to 3)
Thousands of
euros
Notes
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue

2011

(Note 18.1)

75,862

(Note 8)

744,081

Staff costs

(Note 18.2)
(Note 18.3)

35,529
(26,894)

Depreciation and amortization charge

(Note 18.4)

(22,371)

Net impairment losses

(Note 18.5)

(474,863)

Other operating expenses

(Note 18.6)

(89,009)

Result of companies accounted for using the equity method
Gains/(losses) on transactions with Group companies, jointly controlled
entities and associates

Provisions (net)

(Note 14)

(7,431)

Other gains

(Note 18.7)

67,861

Other losses

(Note 18.7)

(144,024)

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

158,741

Finance income

2,547

Finance cost

(Note 15)

FINANCIAL LOSS

(156,349)
(153,802)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax

4,939
(Note 17.2)

PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

228,497

Profit from discontinued operations

-

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests

223,558

228,497
(Note 13.6)

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP
The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and the Appendices are an integral part of
the income statement for 2011.

(27,613)
200,884
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Translation of Consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance
with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group (see Notes 2 and 27). In
the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Notes 1 to 3)

Notes

Thousands of
euros
2011

Consolidated profit for the year (per consolidated income statement)

228,497

Income and expense recognized directly in equity

(48,058)

Cash flow hedges
Translation differences

(Note 13.4)
(Note 13.4)

(9,501)
1,860

Companies accounted for using the equity method

(Note 13.4)

(44,655)

Tax effect
Transfers to profit or loss

(Note 13.4)

4,238

Cash flow hedges

(Note 13.4)

(553)

Translation differences

(Note 13.4)

-

Companies accounted for using the equity method

(Note 13.4)

7,261

Tax effect

(Note 13.4)

166

6,874

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

187,313

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests

(Note 13.6)

(27,613)

Other comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests

(Note 13.6)

2,500

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

(25,113)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP

162,200

The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and the Appendices are an integral part of
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 2011.
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Translation of Consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory
financial reporting framework applicable to the Group (see Notes 2 and 27). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanishlanguage version prevails.

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR
ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Notes 1 to 3)
Thousands of euros
Share
capital
Balance at 01/01/11

Uncalled
share capital

Share
premium
and reserves

Profit
attributable
to the
Parent

Total share
capital,
reserves and
profit

60

(45)

(2)

-

Business reorganization (Note 1)

3,224,940

-

6,640,821

-

9,865,761

Balance at 01/01/2011

3,225,000

(45)
-

6,640,819

-

-

200,884

(200,000)

-

Comprehensive income for the year

-

Interim dividend for current year

-

Other changes

-

Balance at 31/12/11

3,225,000

45
-

Valuation
adjustments

13

-

Non-controlling
interests
-

Total
equity
13

22,398

142,155

10,030,314

9,865,774

22,398

142,155

10,030,327

200,884

(38,684)

25,113

(200,000)

-

-

187,313
(200,000)

(76,909)

-

(76,864)

-

177,625

100,761

6,363,910

200,884

9,789,794

(16,286)

344,893

10,118,401

The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and Appendices are an integral part of
the consolidated statement of changes in equity for 2011.
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Translation of Consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance
with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Group (see Notes 2 and 27). In
the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR
ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011
(Notes 1 to 3)
Thousands of euros
Notes
1. Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments to profit
Changes in working capital
Other operating assets and liabilities
Interest paid
Tax recovered/(paid)
2. Cash flows used in investment activities
Interest received
Dividends received from associates
Investments (-)

(Note 19)
(Note 19)

- Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
- Property, plant and equipment, investment property and other intangible
assets
- Available-for-sale financial assets
- Non-current assets held for sale

2011
(272,945)
4,939
(44,980)
(224,816)
(21,601)
(145,911)
159,424
255,770
2,687
385,673
(1,048,076)
(188,501)
(65,405)
(223)
(780,584)

- Loans granted

(13,363)

Disposals (+)

915,486

- Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

100,104

- Property, plant and equipment, investment property and other intangible
assets
- Repayment of loans granted
- Non-current assets classified as held for sale

3. Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid
Loans obtained
Repayment of loans obtained
NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at the beginning of year
Cash at the end of year
Cash generated (used) in the year
The accompanying Notes 1 to 27 and the Appendices are an integral
part of the consolidated statement of cash flows for 2011.

55,218
13,252
746,912

(1,248,660)
(200,000)
1,191,074
(2,239,734)
(1,265,835)
1,507,268
241,433
(1,265,835)
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Translation of Consolidated financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory
financial reporting framework applicable to the Group (see Notes 2 and 27). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanishlanguage version prevails.

CRITERIA CAIXAHOLDING, SAU AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2011

1.

Group activities and general information

Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU (Criteria, Criteria CaixaHolding or the Parent) and its subsidiaries compose
the Criteria CaixaHolding Group (the Group). Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU’s registered office is at Avenida
Diagonal 621, Barcelona, and it was incorporated under the name Caixa Business I, SA for an indefinite
period of time on July 11, 2000. On May 17, 2011, Caixa Business I, SA changed its name to
CaixaHolding, SAU, and on October 24, 2011 it changed its name to the current one. Caixa d’Estalvis i
Pensions de Barcelona (“la Caixa”) is the sole shareholder of the Company.
According to Article 2 of its Bylaws, the corporate purpose of Criteria CaixaHolding consists of the
following activities:

a) buy, sell and administrate securities and other holdings in listed or non-listed companies;
b) administrate and manage companies as well as equity securities of entities resident or nonresident in Spain;

c) providing financial, tax, technical, stock market and any other sort of consultancy and advisory
services; and

d) consultancy, advisory and development services for industrial, commercial, urban, agricultural
and any other sort of enterprises.
The Company may also invest in other companies and may intervene in their incorporation, partner with
them or take any sort of interest in them.
The Company, which had been dormant since its incorporation, commenced its activities in 2011 as a
result of the reorganization process that ”la Caixa,” the parent company of the Group to which the
Company belongs, conducted with the aim of adjusting its business to the new capital requirements
applicable to credit institutions.
Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU is part of the Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona Group (the ”la Caixa”
Group), whose parent is ”la Caixa,” and its registered office is at Avenida Diagonal, 621-629, 08028
Barcelona, being this company the one that prepares the Consolidated financial statements. The “la
Caixa” Group Consolidated financial statements are on file at the Registro Mercantil de Barcelona and
are prepared within the established legal timeframe, i.e., by March 31 each year. The “la Caixa” Group
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Consolidated financial statements for 2010 were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of “la
Caixa” at the meeting held on January 27, 2011. In addition, Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU is exempted
from presenting Consolidated financial statements because it belongs to the “la Caixa” Group. However,
it does so voluntarily. These financial statements are presented in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards to be consistent with “la Caixa” Group.
Reorganization of the “la Caixa” Group
The enactment of Royal Decree-Law 11/2010, of July 9, on the governing bodies and other matters
relating to the legal framework for savings banks, in addition to the approval of the consolidated text of
the Catalan Savings Banks Law, through Royal Decree-Law 5/2010, introduced the possibility for a
savings bank to conduct its financial activities indirectly through a bank.
Under this legal framework, on January 27, 2011, the Boards of Directors of “la Caixa,” Criteria
CaixaCorp, SA (CaixaBank, SA) and MicroBank de “la Caixa,” SA (“MicroBank”) entered into a framework
agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) entailing the reorganization of the “la Caixa” Group in order
to adapt to the new demands of national and international regulations and, specifically, to the new
requirements of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (Basel III). The structure designed enables
“la Caixa” to indirectly carry out its financial activity (via a bank, CaixaBank) while continuing to comply
with its social welfare purposes.
Approval was given at the Ordinary General Assembly of “la Caixa” and the Annual General Meeting of
Criteria CaixaCorp, held on April 28 and May 12, 2011, respectively, to all proposals set forth by the
respective Boards of Directors regarding the reorganization of the “la Caixa” Group. The different
corporate transactions can only be understood if each one is taken as necessary for the next one to take
place, which in the end results in the fulfillment of the Group's objective - reorganizing its businesses to
adapt them to the new regulatory requirements.
The following chart illustrates the reorganization of the “la Caixa” Group at its announcement:
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On June 30, 2011, the corporate transactions included in the Framework Agreement were completed for
legal and business purposes, which, in accordance with prevailing legislation, were accounted for
retrospectively from January 1, 2011. The accounting standards applicable to intra-group
reorganizations require that assets and liabilities subject to such operations be valued at their carrying
amount in the Consolidated financial statements of the group as long as the assets constitute, as they do
in this case, a business. Consequently, the assets and liabilities included in the transactions listed below
have been measured at their carrying amount in the “la Caixa” Group's Consolidated financial
statements at 31 December, 2010.
The details of the corporate transactions carried out are as follows:
a) spin-off in favor of MicroBank of the assets and liabilities making up the financial activity of
“la Caixa” for the amount of €9,515,585 thousand, except the ownership interests of “la
Caixa” in Servihabitat XXI, SAU, Metrovacesa, SA, Inmobiliaria Colonial, SA, and certain real
estate assets, debt issues of “la Caixa” and assets related to Welfare Projects and Monte de
Piedad.
b) delivery to Criteria CaixaCorp (currently, CaixaBank) by "la Caixa" of all the shares of
MicroBank post spin-off. In exchange, ”la Caixa” received:


374,403,908 new shares of Criteria CaixaCorp (currently, CaixaBank) issued as part
of a non-cash capital increase for €2,044,245 thousand. The unit value of the
shares issued by Criteria CaixaCorp was set at €5.46, equivalent to net asset value
(“NAV”) without factoring in the impact of the reorganization of Criteria’s
CaixaCorp assets on January 26, 2011.



The following equity stakes with consolidated carrying amount of €7,526,593
thousand as at January 1, 2011:
(i) a direct 36.64% stake in Gas Natural SDG, SA;
(ii) a direct 20.72% stake in Abertis Infraestructuras, SA (hereinafter “Abertis”)
and a direct 50.1% stake in Inversiones Autopistas, SL (owner of 7.75% of
Abertis) which, in total, represents a 24.61% stake in the share capital of
Abertis;
(iii) an indirect 24.13% stake in the share capital of Sociedad General de Aguas de
Barcelona, SA (through its direct 24.26% stake in Hisusa, Holding de
Infraestructuras y Servicios Urbanos, SA, owner of 99.04% of the share capital
of Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona, SA);
(iv) a direct 50% stake in Port Aventura Entertainment, SA; and
(v) a direct 100% stake in Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, SAU.

At January 27, 2011, these investments had a combined market value of €7,471,340
thousand, which was estimated on the basis of the following measurement bases:
-

Gas Natural SDG, SA and Abertis Infraestructuras, SA: average share price
between December 27, 2010, and January 26, 2011, adjusted for dividends paid
within the period.
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-

Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona, SA: latest corporate transaction price.

-

Port Aventura Entertainment, SA: EBITDA multiples used in the latest
transaction, taking the updated EBITDA based on the latest close.

-

Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, SAU: net carrying amount of leased
properties and third-party appraisal of land for residential, hotel and
commercial use with completed development.

-

In addition, the valuations were appraised by independent experts.

The combined amount of the capital increase (€2,044,245 thousand) and the market
value of the shareholdings contributed by Criteria CaixaCorp to “la Caixa” (€7,471,340
thousand) equal the market value of the MicroBank shares contributed to Criteria
CaixaCorp by “la Caixa” (€9,515,585 thousand).
c) The absorption of MicroBank by Criteria CaixaCorp. This transaction gave Criteria CaixaCorp
the status of a credit institution under the corporate name “CaixaBank, SA.” Consequently,
CaixaBank became a listed bank through which "la Caixa" indirectly carries out its financial
activity.
d) ”la Caixa” contributed to Criteria CaixaHolding all of the shareholdings referred to above in
point (b), as well as other assets not included in the spin-off of “la Caixa” to MicroBank
indicated in point (a), such as the investment in Servihabitat XXI, SAU, Inmobiliaria Colonial,
SA and Metrovacesa, SA.
Contribution of assets to Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU
Among the transactions within the business restructuring process of the ”la Caixa” Group was the
€10,098,877 thousand capital increase made by the Parent by issuing 3,224,939,800 new shares of
Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU with a par value of 1 euro and with a share premium of €2.1315 per share.
The capital increase was fully subscribed by ”la Caixa” through a cash contribution of €307,982
thousand, corresponding to the dividends received from the contributed companies from January 1,
2011 to August 1, 2011, and a contribution of €9,790,895 thousand, which was the consolidated
carrying amount of the business consisting of managing industrial and other holdings. A breakdown of
the assets involved is given below:
a) 349,802,430 ordinary shares, fully subscribed and paid, representing 36.64% of the share
capital of Gas Natural SDG, SA with a value of €4,679,384 thousand;
b) 153,158,969 ordinary shares, fully subscribed and paid, representing 20.72% of the share
capital of Abertis Infrastructuras, SA with a value of €1,502,599 thousand;
c)

50,100,000 shares representing 50.1% of the share capital of Inversiones Autopistas, SL with a
value of €154,551 thousand;

d) 25,012,849 ordinary shares, fully subscribed and paid, representing 24.26% of the share capital
of Hisusa, Holding de Infraestructuras y Servicios Urbanos, SA with a value of €639,059
thousand (indirectly representing 24.03% of the share capital of Sociedad General de Aguas de
Barcelona, SA);
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e) 38,789,737 ordinary shares, fully subscribed and paid, representing 50% of the share capital of
Port Aventura Entertainment, SA with a value of €75,816 thousand. Port Aventura
Entertainment shares are encumbered with rights in rem as a guarantee on the obligations
arising from a financing contract entered into with CaixaBank on December 4, 2009;
f)

2,248,503 ordinary shares, fully subscribed and paid, representing 100% of the share capital of
Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, SAU with a value of €116,802 thousand;

g) 3,514,195 ordinary shares, fully subscribed and paid, representing 5.095% of the share capital
of Metrovacesa, SA with a value of €87,855 thousand;
h) 11,497,945 ordinary shares, fully subscribed and paid, representing 5.089% of the share capital
of Inmobiliaria Colonial, SA with a value of €126,477 thousand;
i)

Credit rights vis-à-vis CaixaBank, SA to receive 1,576,328 shares of Inmobiliaria Colonial,
representing 0.70% of the share capital, in accordance with the securities lending agreement
signed on July 4, 2011 between ”la Caixa,” as the lender, and CaixaBank, SA, as the borrower;

j)

34,538,000 ordinary shares, fully subscribed and paid, representing 100% of the share capital of
Servihabitat XXI, SA with a value of €2,294,549 thousand;

k) 100,000 shares, representing 81.43% of the share capital of Estuinvest, SL with a value of €0;
l)

78,927 ordinary shares, fully subscribed and paid, representing 100% of the share capital of
Estuimmo, SAU with a value of €9,549 thousand;

m) 60,000 shares, representing 100% of the share capital of Estullogimmo, SLU with a value of
€4,210 thousand;
n) 60,000 shares, representing 100% of the share capital of Estuvendimmo, SLU with a value of €0;
o) 373,483,777 shares, representing 4.24% of the share capital of Aliancia Zero, SL with a value of
€0;
p) 153,158,969 shares, representing 20.72% of the share capital of Saba Infraestructuras, SA with
a value of €82,706 thousand
Before the capital increase, ”la Caixa” paid passive dividends of the Parent for an amount of €45,150.
As part of this transaction, at the same time as the aforementioned assets were transferred, the
technical and human resources of these assets were also transferred to the Company to allow it to
continue administering and managing the assets in its portfolio.
On July 28, 2011, when the Sole Shareholder approved the capital increase, the provision for the legal
reserve in the amount of €645,000 thousand, with a charge to the share premium, was agreed on. In
addition, because of the retrospective application for accounting purposes of the "la Caixa" Group's
reorganization to January 1, 2011, Criteria CaixaHolding recognized dividend income corresponding to
the dividends accrued since that date, dividends which formed part of the cash contribution and in-kind
dividends, offsetting the share premium generated as a result of the contribution, the detail of which is
as follows:
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(Thousands of Euros)
Dividends received in-kind

82,706

Dividends received in cash

185,512

Total income contributed to Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU

268,218

At Group level, dividend income is eliminated against reserves in the consolidation process according to
the procedure for including the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries (see Note Basis of consolidation).

2.
2.1.

Basis of presentation and basis of consolidation
Regulatory framework for financial reporting applicable to the Group and true and fair view

The accompanying Consolidated financial statements, which were formally prepared by the Board of
Directors at its Meeting held on March 8, 2012, were obtained from the accounting records of the
Company and of its subsidiaries and are presented in accordance with the following regulatory
framework for financial reporting:
a)

The Spanish Commercial Code and all other Spanish corporate law;

b) the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as adopted by the European Union in
accordance with Regulation (EC) no.1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council, of
July 19, as well as their subsequent amendments; and
c)

all other applicable Spanish accounting legislation;

and, accordingly, present fairly the Group's equity and consolidated financial position at December 31,
2011, and the consolidated results of its operations and its consolidated cash flows. The Consolidated
financial statements of the Group and the financial statements of the integrated companies in the
Group, for 2011, have not yet been approved by the respective Annual General Meetings. They are
expected to be approved without any changes.
Note Measurement bases and accounting policies provides a summary of the most significant
accounting principles and measurement bases applied in the preparation of the Group Consolidated
financial statements for 2011. The Consolidated financial statements for 2011 were prepared on the
basis of accounting records of Criteria CaixaHolding and the remaining companies that compose the
Group. However, since the accounting principles and measurement bases used in preparation of the
financial statements of the Group for 2011 (IFRSs) may differ, in certain cases, from those used by the
Group companies, the required adjustments and reclassifications were made on consolidation to unify
such principles and criteria and to adapt them to the International Financial Reporting Standards
adopted by the European Union.
At December 31, 2011, the Group’s presentation currency is the euro. The functional currency of the
Parent and of most of the subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates is the euro. All balances
and transactions denominated in currencies other than the euro are deemed to be denominated in
foreign currency.
The financial statements of investees with a functional currency other than the euro were translated to
euros as follows:
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 The assets and liabilities are converted at the respective balance sheet year-end exchange rate.
 Revenue and expenses in each heading are translated at the average exchange rate for the
period in which they arose.

 All exchange differences resulting from the above translation are recognized as a separate item
of equity, under Valuation adjustments - Translation differences.
In the event of a loss of control, joint control or significant influence over a company with a functional
currency other than the euro, exchange rate differences recognized as a component of equity related to
such company are recognized in the income statement at the same time as the income arising from such
disposal. If an investee with a currency other than the euro is a jointly controlled company or associate,
and a partial disposal occurs that does not change the status of the investee, or the jointly controlled
company becomes an associate, only the proportional part of the exchange rate difference is recognized
in income. If only a part of the subsidiary with such characteristics is divested without the loss in control,
such part of the accumulated conversion differences is recognized as interest of external partners.
Figures are presented in thousands of euros unless the use of another monetary unit is stated explicitly.
Certain financial information in these financial statements was rounded off and, consequently, the
figures shown herein as totals may differ slightly from the arithmetic sum of the individual figures given
before them.

2.2.

Application of new standards

Standards and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) that
became effective in 2011
At the date of preparation of these Consolidated financial statements, the following standards and
interpretations became effective, the adoption of which by the Group did not significantly impact those
statements.
- IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment)
The amendment clarifies the classification of rights issues for purchase of shares (rights, options or
warrants) denominated in foreign currency. The amendment stipulates that rights issued to acquire a
fixed number of shares for a fixed amount must be classified as equity, regardless of the currency in
which the fixed amount is denominated, provided they meet the requirements of the standard.
- IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
The interpretation sets forth accounting treatment for a debtor that issues equity instruments to a
creditor to extinguish all or part of a financial liability.
- IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (Revised)
This introduces two new features: (a) partial exemption from the disclosure requirements when there is
a relationship involving entities that are controlled or related to the government (or an equivalent
government institution) and (b) revised definition of a related party, clarifying relationships that were
previously not explicit in the standard.
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- IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement (Amendment)
This amendment states that, in some circumstances, entities are not permitted to recognize as an asset
some voluntary prepayments for minimum funding contributions.
Standards and interpretations issued by IASB but not yet effective
At the date of authorization for issue of these Consolidated financial statements, the following
standards and interpretations had been issued by the IASB but were not yet effective, either because
their effective date is subsequent to the date of the Consolidated financial statements or because they
had not yet been endorsed by the European Union.
The Group has assessed the impact arising from these standards and interpretations and has elected not
to early adopt them, where possible, because of their insignificance.

Standards and interpretations

Title

Mandatory application for
annual periods beginning on
or after:

Fi na nci a l i ns truments : Di s cl os ures

Jul y 1, 2011

Ta xes
Pres entation of Fi na nci a l Statements
Fi na nci a l i ns truments : Di s cl os ures
Fi na nci a l i ns truments : Cl a s s i fi ca tion a nd Mea s urement
Cons ol i da ted Fi na nci a l Statements
Joi nt Arra ngements
Di s cl os ure of Interes ts i n Other Entities
Fa i r Va l ue Mea s urement
Empl oyee Benefi ts
Cons ol i da ted a nd Sepa ra te Fi na nci a l Statements
Inves tments i n As s oci a tes
Fi na nci a l i ns truments : Pres entation

Ja nua ry 1, 2012
Jul y 1, 2012
Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Ja nua ry 1, 2013
Ja nua ry 1, 2014

Approved for use in the EU
Amendment to IFRS 7
Not approved for use in the EU
Amendment to IAS 12
Amendment to IAS 1
Amendment to IFRS 7
IFRS 9
IFRS 10
IFRS 11
IFRS 12
IFRS 13
Amendment to IAS 19
Amendment to IAS 27
Amendment to IAS 28
Amendment to IAS 32

- IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amendment)
This amendment clarifies and enhances the disclosure requirements in financial statements regarding
transfers of financial assets.
- IAS 12 Taxation (Amendment)
This amendment includes an exception to the general principles of IAS 12 affecting deferred taxes on
investment properties measured using the fair value model in IAS 40 Investment Property. In these
cases, the amendment introduces, with respect to calculating deferred taxes, a presumption that the
assets recovery of the carrying amount will normally be through sale.
This presumption is refuted when the investment property is depreciable and the business model entails
holding the property to earn economic benefits through its future use rather than sale.
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- IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Amendment)
This amendment requires entities to present a total for profit or loss separately from other
comprehensive income, distinguishing between those items that will be reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently and those that will not be reclassified.
- IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amendment)
This amendment introduces new disclosure requirements for financial assets and financial liabilities
shown net on the balance sheet, as well as for those financial instruments subject to a net
compensation or similar agreement, regardless of whether they have been offset in accordance with IAS
32: Financial Instruments: Presentation.
- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement
IFRS 9 will eventually replace the section of IAS 39 that currently deals with classification and
measurement of financial instruments. There are some major differences with respect to the current
standard; e.g. approval of a new classification model based on only two categories: amortized cost and
fair value, entailing the elimination of the current held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale
financial assets categories; a single impairment method for assets measured at amortized cost; and nonseparation of embedded derivatives in finance contracts.
- IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements
This standard was issued in conjunction with IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and the amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28
(see below), replacing the current standards governing consolidation and recognition of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, as well as disclosure requirements.
Upon entry into force, this standard will replace the consolidation guidelines set out in the current IAS
27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and in interpretation SIC 12 Consolidation – Special
Purpose Entities.
The standard primarily modifies the definition of control, eliminating the risks/rewards approach set out
in SIC 12. Control is now defined through three required elements: power over the investee; exposure
or rights to variable returns from the investee; and the ability to use the power over the investee to
affect the amount of the investor’s returns.
- IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
Upon entry into force, IFRS 11 replaces the current IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The fundamental
change compared with the prevailing standard is the elimination of the proportionate consolidation
option for jointly controlled entities. Under IFRS 11, these entities should be accounted for using the
equity method. The standard also modifies certain nuances when analyzing joint arrangements, focusing
on whether or not the arrangement is structured through a separate vehicle. The standard also defines
two types of joint arrangements: joint operations and joint ventures.
- IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 groups together and extends the scope of all disclosure requirements regarding interests in
subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures or other investees. The primary change with respect to current
disclosure requirements is the new obligation to disclose interests in unconsolidated structured entities.
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- IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 aims to provide the sole guidance for calculating the fair value of assets and liabilities when fair
value measurement is required by other IFRSs. The new standard does not modify the prevailing
measurement bases established in other standards, and is applicable to measurements of both financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities.
In addition, IFRS 13 modifies the current definition of fair value, introducing new considerations in fair
value measurement by adopting the fair value hierarchy, which is conceptually similar to that set out for
certain financial instruments in IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.
- IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Amendment)
The most relevant modifications, which primarily affect defined benefit plans, are as follows:


Elimination of the corridor approach, under which entities were able to defer a certain portion of
their actuarial gains and losses. Following entry into force of this modification, all actuarial gains
and losses must be recognized immediately.



Relevant changes in grouping and presenting cost components in the statement of other
comprehensive income. The entire cost of the obligation shall be presented in three separate
components: service cost, net interest component and revaluation gains and losses.

- IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amendment)
This modification reissues the standard, given that from its entry into force its content will only refer to
separate financial statements.
- IAS 28 Investments in Associates (Amendment)
This modification reissues the standard, which now includes guidance on how to account for joint
ventures, indicating that they shall henceforth be accounted for as associates, i.e., using the equity
method.
- IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment)
This modification provides additional clarification regarding the requirements for offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities shown on the balance sheet.
2.3.

Non-obligatory accounting principles applied

The directors have prepared these Consolidated financial statements in accordance with all mandatory
accounting standards and policies that have a material impact on the statements. All mandatory
accounting standards have been applied in their preparation. No non-mandatory accounting standards
were applied.
2.4.

Comparison of information

As a result of the reorganization of the “la Caixa” Group's activities, which is described in Note Group
activities and general information, the Company and therefore the Group have begun conducting
activities this year. The Parent company, Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU, and the fully consolidated
subsidiaries are as follows:
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Company
Inversiones Autopistas, SL
Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, SAU
Servihabitat XXI, SAU
Servihabitat Alquiler, SL
Servihabitat Alquiler II, SLU
Servihabitat Alquiler III, SA
Servihabitat Alquiler IV, SA
Estuinvest, SL
Estuimmo, SAU
Estullogimmo, SLU
Estuvendimmo, SLU
Norton Center, SL

% shareholding 01/01/2011 *
Direct
Total
50.10
50.10
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
81.43
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

* Although the capital contribution was made on August 1, 2011, for accounting
purposes (see Note Group activities and general information) it was recognized
retroactively as at January 1, 2011. Therefore, these shares are deemed to have
been held since January 1, 2011.

On the other hand, the following companies are included in the scope of consolidation:

Company
Gas Natural SDG, SA
Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
Hisusa, Holding de Infraestructuras y Servicios Urbanos, SA
Port Aventura Entertainment, S.A.
Palau-Migdia, SL

% Shareholding at
01/01/2011 *
Direct
Total
36.64
36.64
20.72
24.61
32.87
32.87
50.00
50.00
50.00

Category
Jointly controlled
Associate
Associate
Jointly controlled
Jointly controlled

Consolidation
method
Equity
Equity
Equity
Equity
Equity

* Although the capital contribution was made on August 1, 2011, for accounting purposes (see Note Group activities and general
information) it was recognized retroactively as at January 1, 2011. Therefore, these shares are deemed to have been held since
January 1, 2011.

For an appropriate understanding and comparison of the consolidated financial position and equity of
the Criteria CaixaHolding Group at December 31, 2011, this section includes a consolidated balance
sheet for the Group at January 1, 2011 reflecting the effect of the reorganization of the “la Caixa”
Group's activities. This facilitates understanding the business performance of the Criteria CaixaHolding
Group from January 1, 2011, the effective date of the reorganization for accounting purposes of “la
Caixa” Group, to December 31, 2011. The comparative information regarding the balance sheet
presented in Notes 4 to 27 refer to January 1, 2011, following completion of the reorganization of the
“la Caixa” Group. The consolidated statement of total changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for 2011 reflect the changes in equity and cash flows starting at January 1, 2011, the date
of the reorganization for accounting purposes.
The information related to January 1, 2011, contained in these Consolidated financial statements is
presented solely for purposes of comparison with 2011.
IFRSs require that the information presented in the Consolidated financial statements for different
periods be consistent. In 2011, there were no significant amendments with respect to the applicable
accounting regulations that affected the comparability of information.
The detail of the consolidated balance sheet for the Criteria CaixaHolding Group at January 1, 2011 and
December 31, 2011 is presented below:
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT JANUARY 1 AND DECEMBER 31, 2011 (THOUSANDS OF EUROS)
ASSETS

Notes

31/12/2011

01/01/2011

758,972
189,721
1,020,878

2,425
44,520
872,122
7,294,931
264,508
290,520
8,769,026

LIABILITIES

Notes

31/12/2011

01/01/2011

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Financial assets
Deferred tax assets
Total non-current assets

(Note 5)
(Note 6)
(Note 7)
(Note 8)
(Note 9)
(Note 17)

7,361,895
227,315
379,493
9,938,274

EQUITY
Capital, reserves and results
Valuation adjustments
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term provisions
Long-term payables
Deferred tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Current financial assets
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

(Note 13)
(Note 13)
(Note 13)

10,118,401

(Note 14)
(Note 15)
(Note 17)
(Note 16)

Total non-current liabilities
(Note 10)
(Note 9)
(Note 11)
(Note 17)
(Note 12)

1,769,052
45,393
1,965,331
566,907
241,433
4,588,116

1,727,065
20,332
2,001,780
520,392
1,507,268
5,776,837

14,526,390

14,545,863

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

9,789,794
(16,286)
344,893

187,909
3,310,680
350,725
152,601
4,001,915

(Note 15)

364,396
41,678

9,865,774
22,398
142,155
10,030,327

41,043
3,815,160
217,447
87,787
4,161,437

406,074

344,200
9,899
354,099

14,526,390

14,545,863
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2.5.

Grouping of headings

Certain items on the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow
statement are grouped together to facilitate their understanding; however, whenever the amounts
involved are material, the information is broken down in the corresponding notes to the financial
statements.
2.6.

Basis of consolidation

In addition to information related to the Parent, the Consolidated financial statements include
information related to subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates. The procedure for
including the assets and liabilities of these companies was based on the type of control or influence
exercised over them, the detail being as follows:
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are defined as companies with which the Parent constitutes a decision-making unit,
because it owns directly or indirectly more than 50% of the voting power, or, even if this percentage is
lower, because there are agreements with other shareholders of these companies that give the Parent
the majority of the voting power. Appendix I to these notes to the Consolidated financial statements
contains significant information on these companies.
The figures of the subsidiaries are consolidated with those of Criteria CaixaHolding using the full
consolidation method, which consists of the aggregation of the assets, liabilities, equity, income and
expenses of a similar nature included in their separate financial statements. The carrying amount of
direct and indirect investments in the share capital of the subsidiaries is eliminated in proportion to the
percentage of ownership in the subsidiaries held by virtue of these investments. All other balances and
transactions between consolidated companies are eliminated on consolidation.
The share of third parties in the equity of the Criteria CaixaHolding Group and the profit for the year are
shown under Equity – Non-Controlling Interests in the consolidated balance sheet and Profit Attributable
to Non-Controlling Interests in the consolidated income statement, respectively.
Jointly controlled entities
Jointly controlled entities are defined by the Criteria CaixaHolding Group as entities that are not
subsidiaries but which, under a contractual arrangement, are jointly controlled by it and other unrelated
shareholders. Relevant information on these companies is provided in Appendix II.
Investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method, i.e., they are
initially recognized at cost and their carrying amount is increased or reduced in order to recognize the
portion of the profits or loss for the year obtained by the investee after the acquisition date. The profits
and losses arising from transactions with a jointly controlled entity are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity. Dividends received and other changes in equity as a
result of the changes in equity which the jointly controlled entity did not recognize in its profit or loss for
the year are taken into account. These changes are recognized directly in the Group's equity.
At the acquisition date, the difference between the cost of the investment and the portion relating to
the investor of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
associate is accounted in accordance with the Revised IFRS 3, Business Combinations. If a jointly
controlled company applies policies other than those adopted by the Group, the relevant adjustments
will be made to the financial statements of the jointly controlled company that are used to apply the
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equity method, in order to ensure that the jointly controlled company's accounting policies are the same
as those used by the Group.
At December 31, 2011, the Group had significant investments in the jointly controlled entities Gas
Natural SDG, SA, (Gas Natural), Port Aventura Entertainment, SA (Port Aventura) and Palau-Migdia, SL,
which are accounted for using the equity method. The use of the proportionate consolidation method to
recognize these investments would give rise to the inclusion of the ownership interest under various line
items in the 2011 consolidated balance sheet and consolidated income statement, as shown in the table
below, instead of recognizing the investment on the asset side as a single line item under Investments
Accounted for Using the Equity Method. The figures shown were estimated on the basis of the latest
available information.

Line item in the Consolidated financial statements

€ million

Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Revenue and other income
Operating expenses

12,826
7,623
8,524
2,947
9,409
6,217

Associates
Associates are companies over which the Parent exercises significant influence but which are not
subsidiaries or jointly controlled entities. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds,
directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the voting power of the investee. If the Group holds less than 20%
of the voting power of the investee, significant influence is demonstrated in the way provided for in IAS
28, such as representation on the Board of Directors, participation in policy-making processes or the
existence of material transactions between the investor and the investee.
In the Consolidated financial statements, business associates are accounted for using the equity method
described in the preceding section on jointly controlled entities.
Relevant information on these entities is disclosed in Appendix II.
2.7.

Changes in the scope of consolidation

The main changes in the consolidation scope or in the percentages of ownership in 2011 were as
follows:
Consolidation method and percentage
Company
Saba Infraestructuras, SA
UMR, SL
Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
Hisusa, Holding de Infraestructuras y Servicios Urbanos, SA
Gas Natural SDG, SA

31/12/2011
55.76%
Full
%
20.00%
Equity
23.54%
Equity
24.26%
Equity
35.27%
Equity

01/01/2011
24.61%
Equity
32.87%
Equity
36.64%
Equity
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Following is a description of the main changes shown in the foregoing table relating to transactions
carried out in 2011, which are described in greater detail in Notes on Business combinations and
changes in control and Investments accounted for using the equity method.
Saba Infraestructuras, SA
Within the scope of Abertis’ corporate restructuring in 2011 and to provide the conditions necessary to
prepare the group’s five business units (toll roads, telecommunications, airports, car parks and logistics
parks) for a new growth stage, Saba Infraestructuras, SA was incorporated in April 2011 to oversee
Abertis’ car parks and logistics parks businesses.
On July 27, 2011, Abertis paid an extraordinary dividend which shareholders could receive either in cash
or shares of the new Saba Infraestructuras. Following this distribution, “la Caixa,” through its Criteria
CaixaHolding subsidiary, opted to receive shares for €82,706 thousand, giving it a direct 20.72% stake in
the company. Abertis holds 78.06%, with the remaining 1.22% held by minority shareholders. On
October 26, 2011, once the pertinent authorizations were given, Abertis sold its entire shareholding in
Saba Infraestructuras SA to Criteria CaixaHolding for €161,866 thousand (giving it control of the
company with a 61.28% stake) and to investment companies Torreal and ProA Capital, thereby
completing the group’s reorganization.
Finally, on December 13, 2011, shares of Saba Infraestructuras were sold to the KKR investment group.
As a result, the company’s shareholder structure has become as follows: Criteria CaixaHolding 55.8%,
Torreal 20%, ProA Capital 10.5%, KKR 12.5% and non-controlling shareholders 1.2%. The value of shares
sold by Criteria CaixaHolding to KKR was €22,046 thousand. This transaction did not have any effect on
the income statement of Criteria CaixaHolding.
The new Saba Infraestructuras, an unlisted company, is the leading car park operator in Spain and one of
the largest in Europe, with 198 car parks and 129 thousand parking spaces. It has operations in more
than 80 cities and towns in Spain, Italy, Chile, Portugal, France and Andorra. The logistics business, with
730 hectares of area, entails the promotion, development, design, management and operation of
logistics parks in Spain, Portugal, Chile and France.
UMR, SL
In May of 2011, CaixaBank, SA (previously, Criteria CaixaCorp, SA) reached a preliminary agreement to
transfer an 80% stake held in the hospital group from its subsidiary SegurCaixa Adeslas to Goodgrower
S.A., a private investment company owned by the Gallardo family. To that end, prior to the transaction,
CaixaBank acquired 100% of the hospital group from its subsidiary, SegurCaixa Adeslas, in order to
subsequently sell the 80% stake to Goodgrower.
On December 16, 2011, CaixaBank finalized the sale of 80% of UMR, SL, the owner of the hospital group,
to Goodgrower, for €189,894 thousand, and the remaining 20% to Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A. for
€47,473 thousand.
The hospital group is made up of ten private hospitals, with over 1,000 beds, and it is present in ten
provinces in Spain, where they are industry leaders in the areas they service. The group mainly targets
the private sector, with a flexible management model. The SegurCaixa Adeslas insurance group is the
hospital group's main client.
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3.

Measurement bases and accounting policies

The principal accounting policies used in preparing the Group’s Consolidated financial statements for
2011, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, were as follows:
3.1.

Use of judgments and estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires that the directors make
judgments, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of accounting policies and the
balances of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The related estimates and assumptions are based on
historical experience and on various other factors which are understood to be reasonable in accordance
with the circumstances, the results of which will be used as the basis to establish the judgments on the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities which are not readily available through other source.
The respective estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis; the effects of the reviews
of the accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which they are made, if these only affect
that period, or in the period of the review and in future periods, if the review affects both. Although
these estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at the close of 2011, future
events may require that the estimates will be revised (upward or downward) in future periods. Such
revisions would, if applicable, be made prospectively.
Aside from the process of systematic estimates and their subsequent review, the Parent’s directors
complete certain value judgments on matters with a particular impact on the Consolidated financial
statements. The most significant judgments relate to the assessment of the possible impairment of
goodwill, equity or debt instruments, and to provisions and contingent liabilities.
3.2.
3.2.1.

Goodwill and other intangible assets
Goodwill and acquisition of non-controlling interests

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured at the date of acquisition at the excess of the
fair value of the assets exchanged over the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquired company. After initial recognition, the goodwill is measured at this
excess amount less any accumulated impairment losses. The Group tests goodwill for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount
might have become impaired.
On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly owned entity, the amount attributable to goodwill is included in
the calculation of the gain or loss on disposal.
Goodwill relating to jointly controlled entities and associates accounted for using the equity method is
presented under Non-Current Assets – Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method in the
consolidated balance sheet together with the amount represented by the investment in the entity’s
capital.
An increase or a decrease in an investment in a subsidiary that does not give rise to a loss of control is
treated as an equity transaction. Therefore, the goodwill paid would be recognized directly in the
Group’s equity, with no effect on goodwill or on the consolidated income statement.
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3.2.2.

Other intangible assets

The other intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance, which arise
as a result of an acquisition from third parties. However, only intangible assets whose cost can be
determined objectively and from which it is considered probable that future economic benefits will be
generated are recognized. Intangible assets are recognized initially at acquisition or production cost and
are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment
losses.
Other intangible assets include the value assigned in the business combination of car parks and logistics
parks business concessions acquired from Saba Infraestructuras, SA, which are depreciated according to
their respective useful lives. In general, service concession arrangements are recognized as assets at the
amounts paid to obtain them.
Accounting for public and private concession of services is regulated by IFRIC 12, in effect since January
1, 2010, when:


the grantor controls or regulates the services for which the concessionaire is to provide the
infrastructure, to whom the services are to be provided and at what price, and



when the grantor controls any significant residual interest in the infrastructure at the end of
the term of the agreement.

It also sets forth various accounting methods that may be used in relation to the aforementioned
agreement (the model for intangible assets, the model for financial assets and the mixed model), in
accordance with the agreements reached between the grantor and the concessionaire.
In such concession agreements, the concessionaire acts as a provider of services—specifically, of
infrastructure improvement or construction services and of operation and maintenance services during
the term of the agreement. The consideration received consists of the right to charge a fee to users of
the public service.
The average amortization period for the intangible assets presented on the balance sheet is as follows:

Asset class
Service concession arrangements

Estimated useful life
24 years

Computer software

3 - 6 years

Other intangible assets

3 - 5 years

The estimated amortization of intangible assets is recognized with a charge to the Consolidated income
statement for the year in which it is taken. The annual amortization is recognized under Depreciation
and amortization in the consolidated income statement, and reversals of impairment losses are
recognized under Net impairment losses (see Note Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets).
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3.3.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of assets owned or acquired under financial leases that the
Group holds for administrative purposes or for the production or supply of goods and services that are
expected to be used for more than one year.
Generally, property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses (see Note Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets).
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, on the basis of the acquisition cost of the
assets less their residual value, based on estimated useful life. Land is not depreciated, since it is
considered to have an indefinite useful life. The period property, plant and equipment depreciation
charge is recognized under Depreciation and Amortization Charge in the Consolidated income statement
and is determined on the basis of the years of estimated useful life of the various assets, as follows:
Type of asset
Properties
Buildings
Fixtures
Furniture and other plant
Computer hardware
Other

Estimated useful life

20-100 years
10-13 years
4-20 years
4-10 years
4-10 years

Upkeep and maintenance expenses are recognized under Other Operating Expenses in the Consolidated
income statement. However, costs of expansion or improvements leading to a lengthening of the useful
lives of the assets are capitalized.
The Group determines periodically the fair value of the properties that form part of its property, plant
and equipment, which is taken to be the price at which two knowledgeable parties would willing to
carry out a transaction. This fair value is determined by reference to the appraisals undertaken by
independent valuers or internal methods taking prices in recent transactions of comparable assets, as
appropriate.
3.4.

Investment property

Investment property in the accompanying Consolidated balance sheet includes the net values of land,
buildings and other structures held either to earn rentals or for capital appreciation.
Investment property is stated at acquisition cost revalued, where appropriate, pursuant to the
applicable legislation. For the purposes of valuation and estimated useful life, the same policies are used
as for identical items of property, plant and equipment.
Income accrued in 2011 in connection with the rental of such investment property stood at €29,345
thousand and it is recognized under Revenue of the accompanying income statement (see Note Income
and expenses).
In accordance with IAS 40, the Group determines periodically the fair value of its investment property,
which is taken to be the price at which two knowledgeable parties would be willing to carry out a
transaction. This fair value is determined by reference to the appraisals undertaken by independent
valuers or internal methods taking prices in recent transactions of comparable assets, as appropriate.
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3.5.

Inventories

Inventories, made up of land, developments under construction and completed developments, are
valued at acquisition cost or execution cost.
Execution cost includes direct and indirect construction costs in addition to the expenses incurred in
financing the construction work while in progress, so long as the construction work takes longer than a
year.
The Group has not capitalized financial costs during the year.
Prepayments made in connection with call options on properties are recognized as inventory
prepayments and it is assumed that expectations regarding the conditions enabling their exercise will be
met.
The Group records inventory impairment provisions, as appropriate, when net realizable value is lower
than carrying value. Given the inherent uncertainties of the market, net realizable value is assumed to
be the fair value, obtained on the basis of appraisals and valuations performed by independent thirdparty experts or internal methods taking prices in recent transactions of comparable assets, as
appropriate.
3.6.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

This heading basically includes assets or groups of assets the value of which will be recovered mainly
through a sale transaction that is highly likely to take place. Under this heading, the Group includes
items of property, plant and equipment which were not intended for own use or which were not
classified as investment property and for which, in any case, there is an intention to sell.
These assets or disposal groups are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less
costs to sell. Impairment losses arising after capitalization of these assets are recognized under Net
impairment losses in the Consolidated income statement. If their value is subsequently recovered, the
amount may be recognized under the same heading on the Consolidated income statement to the extent
of the impairment losses previously recognized. Assets classified under this heading are not depreciated.
The Group centralizes the management, administration and ownership of all assets under this heading
through Servihabitat XXI, SAU in order to optimize their management.
At the end of the reporting period, Societat de Taxació, SA, Tinsa, SA, Valtecnic SA and other appraisal
companies approved by the Bank of Spain were engaged to update the valuation of these assets, with
the exception of special assets or assets not affected by repeat production, for which a new appraisal
was carried out using the criteria established by Ministerial Order ECO/805/2003. In the case of
competed homes with a value of less than €500 thousand, the best estimate of present value was taken
as the lower of 80% of the latest appraisal available made pursuant to the criteria established by
Ministerial Order ECO/805/2003 and the value arising from the update of this appraisal obtained using
statistical methods by a different appraisal company.
At December 31, 2011, market value of non-current assets classified as held for sale obtained on the
basis of performed evaluations was not different from the carrying value.
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3.7.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments are recognized initially on the Consolidated balance sheet when the Group
becomes a party to the contract in accordance with the provisions thereof. Financial assets and liabilities
are recognized from the date on which the legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash arises.
A financial asset is fully or partially derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire or when the asset is transferred. A financial liability is fully or partially
derecognized when the related obligations, risks or other benefits that it generates are extinguished.
Fair value and amortized cost
Upon initial recognition, all financial instruments are recognized at fair value, which, unless there is
evidence to the contrary, is the transaction price. Thereafter, at a specified date, the fair value of a
financial instrument is the amount for which it could be delivered, if an asset, or settled, if a liability, in a
transaction carried out between knowledgeable, willing parties on an arm’s-length basis. The most
objective and common reference for the fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be
paid for it on an organized, transparent and deep market (“quoted price” or “market price”).
If there is no market price for a given financial instrument, its fair value is estimated on the basis of the
price established in recent transactions involving similar instruments and, in the absence of this
information, of valuation techniques commonly used by the international financial community, taking
into account the specific features of the instrument to be measured and, particularly, the various types
of risk associated with it.
The fair value of derivatives not traded in organized markets or derivatives traded in scantly deep or
transparent organized markets is determined using methods recognized by the financial markets,
namely “net present value” (NPV), or option pricing models (see Note Risk management policies).
In the respective notes to the Consolidated financial statements, financial instruments at fair value are
classified on the basis of the methodology used to measure them, as follows:


Level 1. On the basis of quoted prices in active markets;



Level 2. Using valuation techniques in which the assumptions correspond to directly or
indirectly observable market date or to quoted prices on active markets for similar instruments;



Level 3. Using valuation techniques in which some of the main assumptions are not supported
by observable market data.

Also, certain financial assets and liabilities are recognized on the balance sheet at amortized cost. This
criterion is applied mainly to the financial assets recognized under Loans and Receivables and to the
financial liabilities recognized under Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost.
A portion of the assets and liabilities recognized under these headings are included in certain of the fair
value micro-hedges managed by the Group companies and, accordingly, are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet at their fair value relating to the risk being hedged.
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Classification and measurements of financial assets and liabilities
The financial instruments not included in the categories indicated below are recognized under one of
the following headings in the accompanying Consolidated balance sheet: Cash and cash equivalents and
Derivatives.
Loans and receivables. Loans and receivables comprises financial assets arising from the sale of goods
or the rendering of services in the ordinary course of the company's business, or financial assets which
have no commercial substance, are not equity instruments or derivatives, have fixed or determinable
payments and are not traded in an active market. These assets are initially measured at fair value
adjusted by the fees and commissions and transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset, which are charged to income by the effective interest method through maturity.
They are subsequently measured at amortized cost, as described earlier in this Note.
Any impairment losses are recognized in accordance with the principles indicated in "Impairment of
financial assets." Lastly, changes in the fair value of the financial assets hedged at fair value hedges are
measured, when applicable, as described in “Derivatives and hedges.”
Available-for-sale financial assets. This line item in the consolidated balance sheet includes debt
instruments not classified as financial assets held for trading, such as held-to-maturity investments or as
loans and receivables and equity instruments issued by entities other than associates, provided that
they are not classified as held for trading, as well as other financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.
In general, this heading includes all equity investments.
Equity instruments whose fair value cannot be determined in a sufficiently objective manner are measured at
cost, net of any impairment losses.
Changes in the fair value of financial assets after acquisition are recognized, net of the tax effect, with a
balancing entry under “Equity - Valuation adjustments – Available-for-sale financial assets” until the
financial asset is derecognized. On derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in
equity is recognized in “Gains (Losses) on Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” on the income
statement.
Any interest or dividend income on securities is recognized under “Income from equity instruments” in
the consolidated income statement. Any impairment losses on these securities are recognized as
described in Note Impairment of financial assets.
Financial liabilities at amortized cost. These liabilities are initially measured at fair value adjusted by the
amount of the transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of the financial liability, which are recognized
in the income statement using the effective interest method through maturity. They are subsequently
measured at amortized cost, as described earlier in this Note.
The accrued interest borne on financial liabilities at amortized cost is recognized under “Finance Costs”
heading in the consolidated income statement. Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities hedged in
fair value hedges are measured as described in Note Derivatives and hedges.

3.8.

Impairment of assets

The information contained in these notes to the Consolidated financial statements presents objective
data of the valuations being afforded by the market to a number of stakes in listed companies
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accounted for using the equity method (jointly controlled entities and associates) or as available-for-sale
equity instruments. These objective data have been used as a determining factor in assessing the
possible existence of impairment in the listed companies as a whole. However, in the context of an
impairment test and the quantification of any amount to be recognized in the consolidated income
statement, as established in the specific measurement bases and explained in the notes corresponding
to these assets, the Group used its expert judgment based on generally accepted measurement bases
which include, inter alia, discounting the future cash flows expected from the business or specialized
analyst reports in accordance with the characteristics of each type of asset or the best information
available.
Following is a detail of the main criteria used when assessing the impairment of the Group's assets.
3.8.1.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The carrying amount of these assets is reviewed individually at least at each year-end in order to
determine whether there is any indication of the existence of impairment. If impairment is detected by
any other means before year-end, the fair value of these assets is reviewed at that date. If there are
indications of impairment, and always in the case of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite
useful life, the recoverable amount of these assets is estimated.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value and value in use. In assessing value in use, the future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For assets which do not
generate largely independent cash flows, such as goodwill, the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating units (CGUs) to which the assets belong.
Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated income statement for all assets or, where
applicable, for the CGUs in which they are included, when their carrying amount exceeds the
corresponding recoverable amount. In the case of CGUs and not individual assets, these losses are
applied to reducing firstly the goodwill assigned to these units and secondly the other assets.
Impairment losses are reversed, except in the case of goodwill, if there were changes in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. The reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the
consolidated income statement. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.
3.8.2.

Impairment of investments in companies accounted for using the equity method

Impairment of investments accounted for using the equity method is verified by comparing their
recoverable amount (the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with their carrying
amount provided that there is evidence that the investment may have become impaired. The goodwill
included in these investments is verified together with the item to which it is allocated.
In accordance with the methodology established by the Group, the indicators used to assess the
impairment of jointly controlled entities and associates listed on secondary markets are, inter alia, the
quoted market price at year-end, a significant or prolonged decrease in market value to below cost, the
dividends paid in recent years, the expected dividends and the expectations in the market in which the
investee operates.
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In order to determine evidence of impairment, a test is carried out to determine its value in use, which
includes market appraisals, and those carried out internally or by independent valuers. The value in use
of the investment is estimated in accordance with the best information available, based on the
corresponding portion of the present value of the cash flows expected to be generated by the jointly
controlled entity or associate, which include the estimated future cash flows from operating activities
and the amounts resulting from the final sale or disposal by any other means of the investment.
The impairment losses on assets of this nature are reversed if there were changes in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. Both the impairment loss and the reversal of an impairment loss
are recognized in the consolidated income statement. In this respect, an impairment loss is reversed
only to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset after the reversal does not exceed the amount
which would appear in the accounting records if the aforementioned impairment loss had not been
previously recognized.
3.8.3. Impairment of financial assets
A financial asset is considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence of an adverse effect on
the future cash flows that were estimated at the transaction date, or when its carrying amount may not
be fully recovered.
As a general rule, the carrying amount of impaired financial instruments is adjusted with a charge to the
consolidated income statement for the period in which the impairment becomes evident, and the
reversal, if any, of previously recognized impairment losses is recognized in the consolidated income
statement for the period in which the impairment is reversed or reduced, except in the case of equity
instruments classified as available for sale, since this impairment is not considered to be reversible.
When the recovery of any recognized amount is considered unlikely, the amount is written off, without
prejudice to any actions that the Group entities may initiate to seek collection until their contractual
rights are extinguished definitively by expiry of the statute-of-limitations period, remission or any other
cause.
Equity instruments classified as available for sale
In accordance with the methodology established by the Group, the indicators used to assess the
impairment of these instruments which are listed on secondary markets are, inter alia, Net Net Asset
Value, in the case of listed real estate companies, the quoted market price at year-end, a significant or
prolonged decrease in market value to below cost, the dividends paid in recent years, the expected
dividends and the expectations in the market in which the investee operates. The purpose of these
indicators is to assess the existence of objective evidence of impairment. However, a decline in fair value
below the cost of that is not in itself evidence of impairment.
The Group uses its expert judgement to make case-by-case valuations of all its investments, using
generally accepted valuation methods indicated in the preceding paragraph. In general, it is presumed
that the instrument has become impaired if the market value of the asset has been subject to a
continuous fall over a period of 18 months or by more than 40% without the value having recovered,
without prejudice to the possibility that an impairment loss might have to be recognised before that
period has elapsed or before the market value has dropped by that percentage.
An impairment loss on equity instruments is calculated individually and once there is objective evidence
of a loss as a result of an event or group of events with an impact on estimated future cash flows, it is
equal to the difference between their acquisition cost and fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognized in the consolidated income statement.
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3.8.4. Derivatives and hedges
The Group uses various financial instruments as a financial risk management tool. When these
transactions meet certain requirements, they qualify for hedge accounting.
When the Group designates a transaction as a hedge it does so from the inception of the transaction or
of the instrument included in the hedge and the transaction is documented appropriately in accordance
with the regulations in force. The hedge accounting documentation duly identifies the hedged
instrument or instruments and the hedging instrument or instruments, the nature of the risk to be
hedged, and the criteria or methods used by the Group to assess the effectiveness of the hedge over its
entire life, taking into account the risk intended to be hedged.
The Group applies hedge accounting for hedges that are highly effective. A hedge is considered to be
highly effective if, during its expected life, the changes in fair value or in the cash flows that are
attributed to the hedged risk are almost entirely offset by changes in the fair value or in the cash flows,
as appropriate, of the hedging instrument or instruments.
To measure the effectiveness of hedges, the Group analyzes whether, from the beginning to the end of
the term defined for the hedge, it may be expected, prospectively, that the changes in fair value or in
the cash flows of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk will be almost entirely offset
by changes in the fair value or in the cash flows, as appropriate, of the hedging instrument or
instruments and, retrospectively, that the results of the hedge will be within a range of 80% to 125% of
the results of the hedged item.
Hedging transactions performed by the Group are classified into two categories:
Fair value hedges, which hedge the exposure to changes in fair value of financial assets and
liabilities or unrecognized firm commitments, or an identified portion of such assets, liabilities or firm
commitments, that is attributable to a particular risk, provided that it affects the consolidated income
statement. Fair value hedges are mainly financial derivatives used by Group companies to convert fixedinterest-rate debt to variable-interest-rate debt.
Cash flow hedges, which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognized financial asset or liability or with a highly probable forecast
transaction that could affect profit or loss. Cash flow hedges are the derivatives used by Group
companies to convert variable-interest-rate debt to fixed-interest-rate debt.
In the specific case of financial instruments designated as hedged items or qualifying for hedge
accounting, gains and losses are recognized as follows:
In fair value hedges, the differences arising both in relation to hedging instruments or hedged
items, involving hedged type of risk are recognized directly in the Consolidated income statement.
In cash flow hedges, the gains or losses arising on the portion of the hedging instruments qualifying
as an effective hedge are recognized temporarily in equity under Valuation Adjustments – Cash Flow
Hedges, and are not recognized in the consolidated income statement until the gains or losses on the
hedged item are recognized in the consolidated income statement or until the date of maturity of the
hedged item in certain situations in which hedge accounting is discontinued. The gains or losses on the
derivative are recognized under the same heading of the consolidated income statement as gains or losses
on the hedged item. Financial instruments hedged in this type of hedging transaction are recognized
using the methods described in Note Financial instruments, without any changes for the fact that they
are considered to be hedged items. The gains or losses on the ineffective portion of the hedging
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instruments are recognized directly as gains or losses under Other gains and other losses in the
consolidated income statement.
The Group discontinues hedge accounting when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, when the
hedge no longer qualifies for hedge accounting or, lastly, when the designation as a hedge is revoked.
3.9.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency assets and liabilities, including unmatured foreign currency purchase and sale
transactions considered as hedges, are translated to euros using the average exchange rates prevailing
on the spot currency market at the year end, except for non-monetary items measured at historical
cost, which are translated to euros at the exchange rate ruling at the date of acquisition, and nonmonetary items measured at fair value, which are translated to euros at the exchange rates ruling on
the date on which the fair value was determined.
Unmatured forward foreign currency purchase and sale transactions not considered as hedges are
translated to euros at the year-end exchange rates on the forward currency market.
The exchange rates used by the Group in translating the foreign currency balances and transactions to
euros were those published by the European Central Bank.
The exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign currency balances and transactions to the
functional currency of the consolidated companies are recognized in the consolidated income
statement. Valuation Adjustments – Translation Differences under equity in the consolidated balance
sheets includes the net amount of exchange differences arising on non-monetary items whose fair value
is adjusted in equity and the differences arising on the translation to euros of the balances in the
functional currencies of the fully and proportionately consolidated companies and companies accounted
for using the equity method whose functional currency is not the euro, and the differences arising for
the same reasons at jointly controlled entities and associates accounted for using the equity method.
3.10.

Current/Non-current classification

In the consolidated balance sheet, assets and liabilities are classified as current if they relate to cash and
cash equivalents the use of which is not restricted, if they are expected to be realized or settled,
respectively, during the course of the normal cycle of operations, they are held for trading, or the assets
are expected to be realized or the liabilities are due be settled within twelve months after the balance
sheet date. All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.
3.11. Provisions and contingencies
For the preparation of the Consolidated financial statements, a distinction is made between:
Provisions: credit balances covering present obligations at the date of preparation of the
Consolidated financial statements arising from past events which could give rise to a loss for the entities
that is considered likely to occur and which is certain as to its nature but uncertain as to its amount
and/or timing; and
Contingent liabilities: possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not wholly within the
control of the entities.
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The Group’s Consolidated financial statements include all the material provisions with respect to which
it is considered more likely than not that the obligation will have to be settled. Provisions are recognized
on the liability side of the consolidated balance sheet on the basis of the obligations covered and include
the provisions for pensions and similar obligations, the provisions for tax and the provisions for
contingent risks and obligations. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements, but
rather are disclosed, in accordance with the requirements of IAS 37.
Allocations to provisions are recorded in the income statement under the heading Provisions (net).
3.12. Income tax
The expense for Spanish corporation tax and similar taxes applicable to foreign consolidated entities is
recognized in the consolidated income statement unless it arises from a transaction the results of which
are recognized directly in equity. In that case, the income tax is also recognized with a balancing entry in
the Group’s equity.
The income tax expense for the year is calculated as the tax payable on taxable profit for the year, adjusted
for the changes arising during the year in the assets and liabilities recognized as a result of temporary
differences, tax credits and relief and tax loss carryforwards.
The Group considers a temporary difference to exist when there is a difference between the carrying
amount of an asset or liability and its tax base. The tax base of an asset or liability is taken to be the
amount attributed to that asset or liability for tax purpose. A taxable temporary difference is one that will
generate a future obligation for the Group to make a payment to the relevant tax authorities. A deductible
temporary difference is one that will generate a future right for the Group to a refund or to make a lower
payment to the relevant tax authorities.
Tax credits and relief are amounts that, after performance of the activity or obtainment of the profit or loss
giving entitlement to them, are not used for tax purposes in the related tax return until the conditions for
doing so established in the tax regulations are met, provided that the Group considers it probable that they
will be used in future periods.
All deferred tax assets identified as temporary differences are only recognized if it is considered probable
that the consolidated entities will obtain sufficient future taxable profits against which to offset them.
Temporary differences are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet as deferred tax assets or liabilities,
separately from current tax assets or liabilities, which basically comprise income tax payments on account
and VAT refundable.
The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized are reassessed at the end of each reporting period to
ascertain whether they still exist, and appropriate adjustments are made on the basis of the findings of the
analyses performed.
Criteria CaixaHolding and some of its subsidiaries form part of the “la Caixa” consolidated tax group, the
breakdown of which is detailed in Appendix IV.
3.13. Revenue and expense recognition
The most significant criteria used by the Group to recognize its revenue and expenses are summarized
as follows:
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Dividend income and expenses
Dividends received from other companies are recognized as income when the consolidated entities’
right to receive them arises, which is the date of the resolution of the relevant managing body of the
investee.
Interest income and expense and similar items
Interest income, interest expenses and similar items are generally recognized on an accrual basis,
regardless of when the resulting monetary or financial flow arises. Interest income, interest expenses
and similar items are recognized by applying the effective interest method.
3.14 Related party transactions
The Group carries out all related party transactions at market value. Furthermore, transfer prices are
adequately underpinned and, accordingly, the Group's directors do not expect any impact on its
financial position or performance in the future.
3.15 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever their terms imply that substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset have been transferred. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.
Operating lease
Income and expenses from operating leases are taken to income on an accruals basis.
In addition, the acquisition cost of a leased asset is classified on the balance sheet as if it were owned,
increased for directly attributable contract expenses, which are subsequently expensed throughout the
life of the lease arrangement following the same criteria used to recognize lease income.
Any collection or payment that might be made when arranging an operating lease will be treated as a
prepaid lease collection or payment, which will be allocated to profit or loss over the lease term in
accordance with the time pattern in which the benefits of the leased asset are provided or received.
Expenses from operating leases are taken to the income statement on an accruals basis.
Any collection or payment that might be made when an operating lease is arranged, will be treated as a
prepaid lease collection or payment, which will be allocated to profit or loss over the lease term in
accordance with the time pattern in which the benefits of the leased asset are provided or received.
3.16 Termination benefits
Under current legislation, the Group is required to make severance payments to employees terminated
under certain conditions. Therefore, severance payments that may be reasonably quantified are
expensed in the year in which the decision to terminate the employment relationship is made. No
provision has been recognized in the financial statements in this connection, since no situations of this
nature are effective to arise.
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3.17 Statement of comprehensive income
The Group opted to present all recognized income and expense headings in two separated statements.
Detail on the profit or loss of the year is provided in the Consolidated income statement and the second
statement, which commences with year's profit or loss, displays the components of Other
comprehensive income.
The principal components of other comprehensive income are valuation adjustments to cash flow
hedges and translation differences arising from the translation of the functional currency and the
presentation currency. The statement shows as a separate component the changes arising in the same
connection relating at the associates and jointly controlled entities, which are accounted for using the
equity method. The statement specifically displays reclassifications of components of Other
comprehensive income that have been recognized in profit or loss, providing a similar level of detail.
Other components of Other comprehensive income are, for example, changes in revaluation reserves
recognized in accordance with IAS 16 or IAS 38 and actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans
pursuant to IAS 19.
3.18. Statement of changes in equity
The most significant changes in equity are included in this statement and relate mainly to (i) the
comprehensive income for the year; (ii) the effects of retrospective application or retrospective
restatement defined in IAS 8; (iii) the amounts of the transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners, such as equity contributions, reacquisitions of the entity’s own equity instruments and
dividends net of the related transaction costs; and (iv) changes in this connection relating to associates
and jointly controlled entities.
3.19. Consolidated statements of cash flows
The consolidated statements of cash flows have been presented using the indirect method. The
following terms are used in the consolidated statements of cash flows:
Cash flows: Inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash flows from operating activities: Comprises the transactions of Group subsidiaries,
including payments of interest and taxes and other activities that are not investing or financing
activities.
Cash flows from investing activities: Cash flows from the acquisition and disposal of noncurrent assets and other investments not included in cash and cash equivalents. They also include the
dividends received from financial assets in listed companies and in those accounted for using the equity
method.
Cash flows from financing activities: Activities that result in changes in the size and
composition of the equity and borrowings of the Group.
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4.

Business combinations and changes in control

A business combination has arisen in 2011 as a result of the acquisition of Saba Infraestructuras, SA,
explained in Note Changes in the scope of consolidation.
Accounting aspects of the transaction
The fair value of the 55.76% ownership interest acquired from Saba is €223 million, calculated based on
the share price paid in the transactions described in Note Changes in the scope of consolidation.
The acquisition was completed on October 26, 2011, the date on which the control of Saba was
obtained. Therefore, the Group’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2011 includes all the
assets and liabilities of the car parks and logistics parks businesses. The consolidated income statement
for the year ended December 31, 2011 includes the impact of the transactions from the date of control
(approximately two months) on each heading. Ordinary revenue attributable to the Group was €34
million. Accordingly, the contribution to profits was not material. Had the business combination
occurred on January 1, 2011, ordinary income of the combined entity would have been €157 million
higher and the increase in contribution in profits would not have been material.
The assets and liabilities acquired, stated at their fair value, are as follows:
Item
Assets acquired
Service concession arrangements
Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment and investment properties
Tax assets
Loans and receivables
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Liabilities acquired
Current and non-current provisions
Bank borrowing (current and non-current)
Tax liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other liabilities
Non-controlling interests
Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired net of non-controlling
interests on the date control is obtained
Percentage stake acquired at December 31, 2011
Consideration transferred

Fair value (€ million)

714
46
338
105
40
22
77

(155)
(524)
(144)
(49)
(31)
(39)
400
55.76%
223

The difference between the fair value of the identifiable net assets and the carrying amount of the
acquiree was €70 million and related mainly to intangible assets and investment property. It comprises:
(a) The value of the concessions to operate car parks and certain logistics parks. These concessions were
valued using a discounted cash flow (DCF) method, one of the most widely used in the industry. This
method entails discounting the cash flows generated by each of the company’s assets during the
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period of operation, without considering any renewals, at a specific rate (the weighted average cost
of capital, or “WACC”).
(b) The fair value of the assets owned by the Group. This was estimated by applying the DCF method to
each of asset, but unlike the concessions, which have a finite useful life, calculating a value to
perpetuity.
The amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized at December 31, 2011 were
calculated provisionally based on the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) report prepared internally. In
accordance with current legislation, the Group has one year from the time of acquisition to make final
allocations. Nevertheless, management expects that no significant changes will be made to the
allocation.
An acquisition cost of €34 thousand was recognized in the Group’s Consolidated income statement.

5.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

The detail of changes in intangible assets in 2011 is as follows:
Thousands of euros
Balance at
01/01/11
Goodwill
Other intangible assets (net)
Computer software
Service concession arrangements
Other intangible assets
Accumulated amortization
Computer software
Service concession
arrangements
Other
intangible assets
Impairment losses
Total

Business
combinations

Additions and
provisions

Disposals
and
impairment

Balance at
31/12/11

Transfers

-

198

-

-

-

198

2,425
2,434
(9)
(9)
2,425

760,464
8,112
948,989
64,860
(261,497)
(6,935)
(234,875)
(19,687)
760,662

(1,777)
3,220
1,500
6
(6,503)
(1,972)
(3,610)
(921)
(106)
(1,883)

(49)
(51)
(19)
(42)
63
45
8
10
(49)

(2,289)
(1,545)
117
(861)
(1,386)
525
106
(2,183)

758,774
13,715
948,925
64,941
(268,807)
(8,871)
(239,863)
(20,073)
758,972

The Business combinations column for 2011 corresponds to the inclusion of Saba Infraestructuras, S.A.
into the scope of consolidation (see Note Business combinations and changes in control). These
intangible assets are shown in the financial statements at fair value. For purposes of presentation and in
order to provide more information on these assets, a breakdown of the accumulated amortization is
presented.
Service concession arrangements primarily corresponds to the aforementioned acquired business’
concessions to operate car parks. The asset to be recognized (value of the concession or value of the
right to charge the users for a public service) as consideration for the construction services or
infrastructure improvements is measured in accordance with IFRIC 12 (refer to Note Measurement
bases and accounting policies). The asset is depreciated using the straight-line method over the term of
concession.
Other intangible assets includes the transfer and use fees recognized by Saba Infraestructuras, SA in its
balance sheet regarding car park leasing fees.
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During 2011, impairment in the amount of €106 thousand was recognized in the Consolidated income
statement (see Note Income and expenses).
At December 31, 2011, fully amortized intangible assets still in use amounted to €32,779 thousand.
The net carrying amount of intangible assets located outside Spain is as follows:
Thousands of euros
Cost
Europe
Latin America

6.

Amortization

Net carrying
amount

Depreciation

319,859

(74,359)

(16,783)

228,717

50,551

(9,376)

-

41,175

Property, plant and equipment

In 2011, changes in this heading of the accompanying consolidated balance sheet have been as follows:

Balance at
01/01/11

Business
combinations

Thousands of euros
Additions
Disposal and
and
recoveries
provisions

Transfers

Balance at
31/12/11

Land, buildings and work in progress

42,264

126,788

(3,574)

(145)

8,486

Cost

44,506

156,945

586

(190)

9,674

173,819
211,521

Accumulated depreciation
Impairment

(1,237)
(1,005)

(27,754)
(2,403)

(1,326)
(2,834)

45
-

(1,188)
-

(31,460)
(6,242)

Furniture, fixtures and other

2,256

10,721

4,844

-

(1,919)

15,902

Cost

3,334

32,326

5,694

14

2,967

44,335

Accumulated depreciation

(1,078)

(21,605)

(850)

(14)

(4,886)

(28,433)

Total

44,520

137,509

1,270

(145)

6,567

189,721

The increase in the balance of Property, plant and equipment is related to the inclusion of Saba
Infraestructuras, SA into the scope of consolidation (described in Note Business combinations and
changes in control). These assets are shown in the financial statements at fair value. For purposes of
presentation and in order to provide more information on these assets, a breakdown of the
accumulated amortization is presented.
Any gain and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are recognized under Other Gains
and Other Losses, respectively, in the accompanying Consolidated income statement (see Note Other
gains and losses).
In 2011, impairment in the amount of €2,834 thousand was recognized in the consolidated income
statement (see Note Income and expenses).
Various loans with credit institutions are recognized, for a total amount of €148,911 thousand, and are
guaranteed by a mortgage on some items of property, plant and equipment.
At December 31, 2011, fully amortized tangible assets still in use amounted to €11,093 thousand.
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The net carrying amount of intangible assets located outside Spain is as follows:
Thousands of euros
Cost

Amortization

Net carrying
amount

Depreciation

Europe

79,012

(19,473)

(22,339)

37,200

Latin America

39,216

(12,035)

-

27,181

The Group’s policy to take out all insurance policies deemed necessary to cover potential risks to the
items of property, plant and equipment.

7.

Investment property

In 2011, the movements in this heading of the accompanying balance sheet have been as follows:
Thousands of euros
Balance at
01/01/2011

Business
combinations

Additions and
provisions

Disposals

Transfers

Amounts
used

Balance at
31/12/2011

Cost
Land and buildings

945,229

212,599

53,643

(117,450)

55,937

-

1,149,958

34,144

32,032

756

(29,557)

(6,163)

-

31,212

(26,598)

(32,496)

(11,917)

11,599

201

-

(59,211)

(7,320)

(13,298)

(2,735)

9,861

2,506

-

(10,986)

918,631

180,103

41,726

(105,851)

56,138

-

1,090,747

26,824

18,734

(1,979)

(19,696)

(3,657)

-

20,226

Total net

945,455

198,837

39,747

(125,547)

52,481

-

1,110,973

Impairment losses

(73,333)

-

(14,208)

609

(3,872)

(709)

(90,095)

Total

872,122

198,837

25,539

(124,938)

48,609

(709)

1,020,878

Furniture, fixtures and other
Accumulated depreciation
Buildings
Furniture, fixtures and other
Net
Land and buildings
Furniture, fixtures and other

The increase in the balance of investment property is related to the inclusion of Saba Infraestructuras,
SA into the scope of consolidation (described in Note Business combinations and changes in control).
These investment properties are shown in the financial statements at fair value. For purposes of
presentation and in order to provide more information on these assets, a breakdown of the
accumulated amortization is presented.
The disposals included in this heading mainly relate to the sales of hotels (Hotel Gold River and Hotel El
Paso) and of the Convention Center owned by Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, SAU, to Port
Aventura Entertainment, SA in October of 2011 for €110 million.
At December 31, 2011, the most relevant investment properties included in this heading mainly relate
to real estate developments and residential rental properties located in Catalunya, Madrid and the
north of Spain as well as investment properties in logistics parks business located in “ZAL Barcelona”
(“Zona de Actividades Logísticas”), “Parque Logístico de la Zona Franca” (Barcelona) and in the Penedès
region (Barcelona province).
At December 31, 2011, fully amortized assets still in use amounted to €5 thousand.
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The net carrying amount of investment properties located in Europe and Latin America amount to
€57,524 thousand and €50,247 thousand, respectively.
In 2011, €29,345 thousand was earned from the lease of real estate investments (see Note Income and
expenses). Direct transaction costs related to investment property generating rental income in 2011
amounted to €1,420 thousand.

8.

Investments accounted for using the equity method

This heading of the consolidated balance sheet includes equity investments of jointly controlled entities
and associates.
These investments are accounted for using the equity method on the basis of the best available estimate
of underlying carrying amount at the date of preparation of the Consolidated financial statements. The
figures relating to capital, reserves and profit or loss of these companies, and the dividends paid and
accrued in the year, are detailed in Appendix II. For listed companies, the latest public data are given. In
the case of unlisted companies, the figures shown relate to the latest actual or estimated data available at
the date of preparation of these notes to the Consolidated financial statements.
Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011

Description
Listed
Underlying carrying amount (1)
Goodwill (2)
Unlisted
Underlying carrying amount (1)
Goodwill (2)
Subtotal
Less:
Impairment losses
Total

5,436,473
1,198,814

5,340,924
1,233,645

606,163
120,445
7,361,895

609,149
111,213
7,294,931

7,361,895

7,294,931

(1) Including the allocation of the fair value to assets and liabilities on the acquisition of the stake.
(2) Corresponding to the difference between the acquisition price and the underlying carrying amount attributable to the investee at the
acquisition date.

Listed below are the main changes in Investments accounted for using the equity method in 2011:
Thousands of euros
Underlying carrying
amount
Balance at 01/01/11

5,950,073

Goodwill

Total

1,344,858

7,294,931

Purchases and capital increases

121,030

9,232

130,262

Sales

(39,820)

(34,831)

(74,651)

Variation in profit or loss

744,081

-

744,081

Dividends declared

(651,340)

-

(651,340)

Valuation adjustments

(34,121)

-

(34,121)

Transfers

(82,788)

-

(82,788)

35,521

-

35,521

6,042,636

1,319,259

7,361,895

Other changes in reserves
Balance at 31/12/11
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Purchases, capital increases and sales
The detail of acquisitions made in 2011 is as follows:
Thousands of euros
Purchases and capital increases
Saba Infraestructuras, SA
UMR, SL
Total purchases and capital increases

Underlying carrying
amount
82,788
38,242
121,030

Goodwill
9,232
9,232

Total
82,788
47,474
130,262

The detail of sales made in 2011 is as follows:
Thousands of euros
Sales
Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
Total sales

Underlying carrying
amount
(39,820)
(39,820)

Goodwill
(34,831)
(34,831)

Total
(74,651)
(74,651)

Following is a description of the most significant transactions carried out in 2011 in relation to stakes in
jointly controlled entities and associates:
Saba Infraestructuras, SA
As described in Note Business combinations and changes in control, the Group acquired a stake in the
Saba Infraestructuras, SA Group during the year. On July 27, 2011, Abertis paid an extraordinary
dividend which shareholders could receive either in cash or in shares of the new Saba Infraestructuras.
Criteria CaixaHolding opted to receive shares, thus acquiring a direct 20.72% stake in the company,
while Abertis maintained 78.06%, with the remaining 1.22% held by minority shareholders.
Subsequently, on October 26, 2011, once the pertinent authorizations had been granted, Abertis sold its
entire stake in Saba Infraestructuras, SA to Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU (giving it control of the company
with a 61.28% stake) and to investment companies Torreal and ProA Capital, thereby completing the
Group’s reorganization. Since the takeover, the company has been consolidated under the full
consolidation method.
UMR, SL
In May of 2011, CaixaBank, SA (formerly Criteria CaixaCorp, SA) reached a preliminary agreement on the
transfer of an 80% stake in a private hospital group belonging to its subsidiary, SegurCaixa Adeslas, to
Goodgrower, SA.
To that end, prior to the transaction, CaixaBank acquired 100% of the hospital group from its subsidiary,
SegurCaixa Adeslas, in order to subsequently sell the 80% stake to Goodgrower.
On December 16, 2011, CaixaBank finalized the sale of 80% of UMR, SL, the parent of the hospital group,
to Goodgrower, for €189,894 thousand, with Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A. acquiring the remaining 20% for
€47,473 thousand.
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Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
A total of 8,315,826 million shares, representing 1.072% of the share capital of the company, were sold
in 2011 for €100,104 thousand. The capital gain was recognized under Gains/(losses) on transactions
with Group companies, jointly controlled entities and associates for a gross amount of €25,412
thousand.
At December 31, 2011, Group held a 23.54% stake in Abertis.
Gas Natural SDG, SA
On April 14, 2011 the Annual General Meeting approved the distribution of a final dividend for 2010,
allowing the shareholders to elect to receive the dividends in cash, as shares of the company or in any
combination of the two. Criteria CaixaHolding opted to exchange the extraordinary dividend for shares
in the company, which led to the acquisition of 12,062,153 new shares and an increase in the stake held
by the Group to 36.69%. This percentage was subsequently diluted to 35.27% as a result of a capital
increase (without pre-emptive subscription rights), which the company used to include Sonatrach as a
new holder of its share capital.
At December 31, 2011, the Group held a 35.27% stake in Gas Natural.
Hisusa-Holding de Infraestructuras y Servicios Urbanos, SA (Hisusa)
The Group holds a stake in Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona, SA (Agbar) through its stake in
HIsusa. At January 1, 2011, the Group held a 32.87% stake in Hisusa, giving it a 24.03% indirect stake in
Agbar.
On January 20, 2011, Hisusa, SA’s Extraordinary General Shareholders Meeting agreed to increase the
company's share capital by €97 million. The capital increase took place through an issue of 26,988,037
new shares with the same characteristics as the currently outstanding shares (registered, of a single
class and series, with a par value of €3.61 each). New shares were issued with a total share premium of
€608 million.
The new shares, including the share premium, were fully paid by the shareholder Suez Environnement
España, SL—with the Group waiving its pre-emptive purchase right—through a non-cash contribution of
35,255,920 shares representing 25.93% of Agbar's share capital. The shares were valued, for the
purposes of the contribution, at a total amount of €705 million, or €20 per share contributed.
Thus, Suez Environnement España, SL raised its stake in Hisusa's share capital to 75.74%, while the
Group retained the remaining 24.26%. Thus, the Group holds a 24.13% indirect stake in Agbar.
Impairment
In accordance with the Group’s policy, the appropriate impairment tests were carried out on these
investments in order to ascertain their fair value. The sum of parts discounted cash flows (DCF)
valuation methodology was mainly used. Conservative assumptions obtained from sources of renowned
prestige were used. The discount rate used was the individual weighted average cost of capital (WACC)
of each business and country (ranging from 6.4% to 10.5% in 2011), and control premiums were not
used in the valuation of the investees. The basic assumptions used were as follows:


Market risk premium: 5%;
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Betas from Bloomberg;



GDP and CPI: forecasts presented by The Economist Intelligence Unit;



The projection periods were tailored, where appropriate, to the characteristics of each
business, mainly the terms of the related concessions.

The earnings projections used in the estimated discount rates were, in certain cases, at more than five
years due to the specific circumstances of each investment, such as significant investment plans, their
location in emerging economies, concession terms and other similar factor. In addition, certain very
specific aspects were considered in relation to the Group’s investments, including litigation and country
risk, although these factors do not have a potentially significant impact on the valuation of the
investments.
Based on the analyses performed, and applying conservative and prudent criteria, it was concluded that
it was not necessary to recognize impairment losses in connection with the fair value of the investees.
Group management reviews the valuation of these investments on an ongoing basis.
The financial information of the entities accounted for using the equity method, based on the most
recent published information, is summarized as follows:
2011
Thousands of euros
Entity

Assets

Liabilities

Revenue

Profit attributable
to the Parent

Abertis Infraestructuras, SA

22,749,195

18,333,482

3,914,789

720,094

Gas Natural SDG, S.A.

46,502,288

32,060,899

21,339,155

1,325,785

6,653,850

3,825,614

2,332,087

264,883

Other non-listed companies

According to the most recent public information available, the companies accounted for using the equity
method in which the Group holds investments together with other investors do not have any material
contingent liabilities.
Goodwill
The detail at December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 of the goodwill included under Investments
Accounted for Using the Equity Method is as follows:

Entity
Abertis Infraestructuras, SA
Gas Natural SDG, SA
Hisusa, SA
UMR, SL
Total

Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011
641,278
676,109
557,536
557,536
111,213
111,213
9,232
1,319,259
1,344,858
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9.

Financial assets

The detail of the balances of Financial assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets is as
follows:

Financial investments
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Total

Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011
Non-current
Current
Non-current
Current
136,459
241,138
90,856
45,393
23,370
20,332
227,315
45,393
264,508
20,332

The maturities of the financial assets are presented below to show the Group's liquidity situation at
December 31, 2011:

Type of financial item

Less than 12
months

ASSETS
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Short-term bank deposits
Other financial assets
Total

9.1.

Maturity (thousands of euros)
Between 1 and
From 3 to 5
3 years
years

After 5 years or
no set maturity

24,727
132
20,534

20,856
-

70,000
-

136,459
-

45,393

20,856

70,000

136,459

-

Available-for-sale financial assets

The detail of Available-for-sale financial assets, based on the nature of the related transactions, is as
follows:
Thousands of euros

01/01/2011

Purchases
and capital
increases

Impairment

31/12/2011

Metrovacesa, SA
Inmobiliaria Colonial, SA
Total listed companies
Other unlisted
Total unlisted companies

87,855
143,817
231,672
9,466
9,466

224
224

(77,308)
(26,149)
(103,457)
(1,446)
(1,446)

10,547
117,668
128,215
8,244
8,244

Total

241,138

224

(104,903)

136,459

Impairment
Based on management’s criteria, and in light of the aforementioned economic situation and the drop in
market prices, management reviewed the objective evidence of impairment of the available-for-sale
financial assets on a regular basis.
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In 2011, based on the tests that have been conducted, and using the net net asset value (NNAV) as a
reference, the company recognized an impairment of €77,308 thousand for its stake in Metrovacesa,
and an impairment of €26,149 thousand for its stake in Inmobiliaria Colonial.
9.2.

Loans and receivables

The detail of Loans and Receivables at December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 is as follows:

Accounts receivable
Other financial investments
Total

Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011
Non-current
Current
Non-current
Current
90,856
24,859
23,370
19,484
20,534
848
90,856
45,393
23,370
20,332

At December 31, 2011, Accounts receivable included the receivable (€70 million) on the sale of property
by Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community to Port Aventura during the year. The interest rate on the
loan was 8%. An amount of €933 thousand was accrued in 2011, recognized under Finance income in
the accompanying Consolidated income statement.
The detail of the gross balance of Accounts receivable and its corresponding impairment is given below:

Accounts receivable, gross
Other financial investments, gross
Impairment losses
Year-end balance

Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011
Non-current
Current
Non-current
Current
95,458
24,859
26,510
19,484
21,934
848
(4,602)
(1,400)
(3,140)
90,856
45,393
23,370
20,332

The detail of the maturities of Loans and receivables at December 31, 2011 is given in Note Risk
management policy.
The changes in the Impairment losses in 2011 are given below:

Beginning balance 2011
Plus:
Impairment losses charged to profit or loss
Less:
Amounts used
Changes in scope of consolidation and other
Balance at year-end 2011

Thousands of euros
(3,140)
(70)
1,364
(4,156)
(6,002)
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10.

Inventories

The detail of the balances of inventories in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet is as follow:
Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011
Completed buildings
Homes
Other
Buildings under construction
Homes
Other
Land
Built land
Other
Prepayments
Impairment losses
Total

46,795
4,397

9,669
-

219,100
48,321

147,994
10,835

295,621
1,860,178
17,452
(722,812)
1,769,052

509,494
1,479,710
59,830
(485,467)
1,727,065

Inventories, which consists mainly of land and property under construction, are measured at the lower
of cost, including financial charges, and realizable value, understood to be the estimated net selling
price less the estimated production and marketing costs.
Prepayments consists mainly of amounts deposited in court to participate in real estate auctions.
The detail of the change in inventories in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet is as follow:

Balance at beginning of 2011
Acquisitions
Sales
Transfers and other
Writedown against profit
Total gross
Impairment losses
Balance at year-end 2011

Thousands of euros
2,212,532
386,521
(53,919)
(53,045)
(225)
2,491,864
(722,812)
1,769,052

The additions in the year related to the acquisition of land and buildings under construction financed by
the “la Caixa” Group, which, in accordance with the Group’s risk management policy, were acquired for
management by Servihabitat XXI.
Changes in Impairment losses in the year were as follows:

Balance at beginning of 2011
Net provisions
Transfers
Amounts used
Balance at year-end 2011

Thousands of euros
485,467
272,688
(34,969)
(374)
722,812
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11.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

The detail of the balances of Non-current assets classified as held for sale in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet is as follow:
Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011
Completed buildings
Homes
Other
Buildings under construction
Homes
Other
Land
Built land
Other
Prepayments
Impairment losses
Total

1,626,241
190,786

1,497,518
152,690

13,907
161

75,037
2,085

704,317
42,496
72,279
(684,856)
1,965,331

497,364
208,311
261,308
(692,533)
2,001,780

Prepayments consist mainly of amounts deposited in court to participate in real estate auctions.
Changes during the year in Non-current assets classified as held for sale were as follows:

Balance at beginning of 2011
Plus:
Business combinations and changes in scope
Additions
Less:
Sales
Transfers and other
Total gross
Impairment losses
Balance at year-end 2011

Thousands of euros
2,694,313
1,886
780,584
(820,310)
(6,286)
2,650,187
(684,856)
1,965,331

The additions in the year related to the acquisition of land and real estate developments financed by the
“la Caixa” Group, which, in accordance with the Group’s risk management policy, were acquired for
management by Servihabitat XXI.
Disposals in the year correspond to the cost of houses sold in 2011.
Any gain and losses on disposals of non-current assets held for sale are recognized under Other gains
and Other losses, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated income statement (see Note Other
gains and losses).
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Changes in Impairment losses in the year were as follows:
Thousands of euros
(692,533)

Balance at beginning of 2011
Plus:
Additions
Transfers and other
Less:
Disposals
Amounts used
Balance at year-end 2011

12.

(199,269)
42,696
122,417
41,833
(684,856)

Cash and cash equivalents

The detail of Cash and Cash Equivalents is as follows:
Thousands of euros
Type of contract

31/12/2011

Interest-bearing bank accounts
Other, non-interest accounts
Total

01/01/2011

222,357

83,473

19,076

1,423,795

241,433

1,507,268

Interest
rate

Other
information

Mainly 1M Euribor
less 5 basis points

Mainly held with
CaixaBank

-

-

In 2011, accrued interest related to cash and cash equivalents stood at €2,544 thousand and was
recognized under Financial income in the accompanying consolidated income statement.
The entire balance of Cash and cash equivalents matures in less than 12 months.

13.

Equity

The statement of changes in equity shows the movements in 2011. The most important are discussed
below.
13.1. Share capital
At 31 December, 2010, the share capital of Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU consisted of 60,200 shares, each
with a par value of €1, of which €45,150 was unpaid. This sum was paid on August 1, 2011. A capital
increase occurred on the same date and was subscribed through cash and non-cash contributions as
described in Note Group activities and general information, for which 3,224,939,800 shares with a par
value of €1 were issued with a share premium of €2.131493087 each, equivalent to the total value of
the contribution (€10,098,877 thousand).
At December 31, 2011, the share capital stood was valued at €3,225,000 thousand. The shares are
registered and are fully subscribed and paid by ”la Caixa,” the Company’s sole shareholder.
The shares of the Parent are not listed.
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13.2. Share premium
The balance of the "Share premium" account stems from the contribution made on August 1, 2011, as
indicated above. The capital increase entailed the issuance of 3,224,939,800 shares with a share
premium of €2.131493087 a share, for a total of €6,873,938 thousand. On the same date, the Sole
Shareholder resolved to appropriate €645,000 thousand from the share premium account to the legal
reserve. Subsequently, the Parent reclassified €268,218 thousand from the share premium account to
the year's results (eliminated against reserves in the consolidation process). This amount was equivalent
to the dividends accrued by the contributed investees from January 1 to July 31, 2011, as all transactions
carried out in the ”la Caixa” Group reorganization process were considered to have taken place for
accounting purposes on January 1 (see Note Group activities and general information). At December 31,
2011, the share premium balance was €5,960,720 thousand.
The consolidated text of the Spanish Corporate Enterprise Act (Ley de Sociedades Anónimas) expressly
allows the balance of the share premium account to be used to increase capital and does not establish
any specific restriction on such use.
13.3. Reserves
Reserves include the net amount of the accumulated profit (loss) recognized in prior years in the
consolidated income statement which, in the distribution of profit, was allocated to equity, plus the
costs incurred in issuing own equity instruments.
Restrictions on availability of accumulated profit and other reserves
The share premium and reserves attributable to the Parent include the legal reserve amounting to
€645,000 thousand at December 31, 2011. This legal reserve may not be distributed to shareholders,
except in case of liquidation of the Parent. Under the consolidated Corporate Enterprise Act, 10% of net
profit for each year must be transferred to the legal reserve until the balance of this reserve reaches at
least 20% of the share capital.
The legal reserve may be used to increase capital provided that the remaining reserve balance does not
fall below 10% of the balance of share capital after the increase. Otherwise, until the legal reserve
exceeds 20% of share capital, it can only be used to offset losses, provided that sufficient other reserves
are not available for this purpose.
At December 31, 2011 the Parent's legal reserve had reached the stipulated level.
In 2011 the Group incurred expenses directly related to the capital increase, which were directly
charged against voluntary reserves, in the amount, net of tax, of €219 thousand.
There are no other significant restrictions on the reserve availability.
13.4. Valuation adjustments
Available-for-sale financial assets
This item in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet includes the amount, net of the related tax
effect, of the differences between the market value and acquisition cost (net gains/losses) of the assets
classified as available for sale which must be classified as part of equity. These differences are recognized in
the consolidated income statement when the assets that give rise to them are sold or become impaired.
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Cash flow hedges
This in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet includes the amount, net of the related tax effect, of
changes in value of the financial derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, in respect of the effective
portion of the aforementioned changes.
Translation differences
Translation differences includes the net amount of exchange differences arising on non-monetary items
whose fair value is adjusted in equity and the translation differences arising on the translation to euros
of the balances in the functional currencies of the fully and proportionately consolidated companies and
companies accounted for using the equity method whose functional currency is not the euro.
Entities accounted for using the equity method
This heading includes the valuation adjustments, cash flow adjustments and exchange difference
adjustments that took place in relation to associates and jointly controlled entities accounted for using
the equity method.
The changes to this item in 2011 were as follows:
2011
Thousands of euros
Valuation gains
and losses

Amounts transferred to profit
Balance at
01/01/11
Cash flow hedges
Translation differences
Entities accounted for using the equity
method
Total

Before tax

(715)
-

Income tax

before tax

(553)

166

(9,501)

-

-

1,860

23,113

7,261

-

(42,155)

22,398

6,708

166

(49,796)

Deferred
tax
liabilities

Balance at
31/12/11

4,238
4,238

(6,365)
1,860
(11,781)
(16,286)

13.5. Distribution of the profits of the Parent and dividends
The distribution of profit of the Parent for 2011 proposed by Criteria CaixaHolding’s directors is as
follows:
Thousands of euros

2011

Distribution basis:
Profit for the year

302,787

Distribution:
Offset of loss carryforwards
To voluntary reserve
Dividends
Total

3
219
302,565
302,787

On June 27, 2011 the General Shareholders’ Meeting approved the distribution of profit for 2010.
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On September 8, 2011, the Board of Directors approved the distribution of an interim dividend out of
2011 profit, in the amount of €200,000 thousand, which was paid on November 29, 2011.
The Board of Directors will propose to the General Shareholders Meeting the distribution of a final
dividend in the amount of €102,565 thousand, as well as the application of €3 thousand to offset prior
year losses and the allocation of €219 thousand to voluntary reserves.
The provisional accounting statement prepared in accordance with legal requirements to evidence the
existence of sufficient liquidity for the distribution of the aforementioned interim dividend is as follows:
(Thousands
of euros)
Date of declaration of interim dividend
Applicable balance sheet date

08/09/2011
31/08/2011

Profit since January 1, 2011
Prior years’ losses
Maximum amount distributable
Proposed interim dividend
Profits not specifically appropriated

348,602
(3)
348,599
(200,000)
148,599

Drawable against credit accounts and cash
Projected changes in cash to October 31
Interim dividend
Remaining liquidity at dividend payment date

307,878
(51,500)
(200,000)
56,378
68,000
124,378

Projected changes in cash movements over 12
months
Remaining
liquidity available after 12 months

The profits of the individual Group companies will be allocated as agreed at their respective Annual
General Meetings.
13.6. Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests relates to the investments held by non-controlling interests in the equity and
profit for the year of the fully consolidated Group companies. The changes in 2011 in Non-Controlling
Interests in the consolidated balance sheet were as follows:

Company
Inversiones Autopistas, S.L.
Saba Infraestructuras, SA
Other
Total

Thousands of euros
Changes
in
Balance at Profit for the
Reclassifications
Interim
scope and
01/01/11
year
and others
dividends
percentage

Valuation
adjustments

Balance at
31/12/11

62,874
79,281

(8)
250
27,371

215,474
-

41,953
(6,955)

(44,685)
(28,162)

(3,273)
773

60,134
212,451
72,308

142,155

27,613

215,474

34,998

(72,847)

(2,500)

344,893

The amount under Reclassifications and others attributed to Inversiones Autopistas, SL, relates mainly to
dividends attributable to non-controlling interests received in the year on the investment held by this
subsidiary in Abertis Infraestructuras, SA.
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13.7. Capital management objectives, policies and processes followed by the Company
The Group manages its capital so as to provide its companies with sufficient economic resources to carry
out their activities. Aside from rationally and objectively managing the capital required to cover the risks
assumed through its activity, the Group aims to maximize the return for the shareholders through an
appropriate debt-to-equity balance. This policy, however, should be interpreted within the context of
the capital management policy of its Sole Shareholder, ”la Caixa,” as it is a financial services company
regulated in Spain, with its own internal risk and regulatory capital management model.
For management purposes, the Group considers the debt comprising loans and credit facilities, included
in Note on Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost, cash and cash equivalents and the portion of equity
formed by share capital, reserves and retained earnings as capital.
The objectives established above are met by determining the individual requirements of each of the
entities, fulfilling the obligations arising from the industries in which they operate and providing the
Parent with its own resources.
The Group's management periodically reviews the capital structure.

14.

Long-term provisions

The changes in Long-term provisions in 2011 were as follows:
Thousands of euros
Description

Business
combinations

Balance at
01/01/11

Provisions for substitution
and fees

-

Charge for
the year

Amounts used

Transfers
and other

Balance at
31/12/11

155,272

-

(105)

2,133

157,300

Other responsibilities
Royalties

41,043

2,702

7,431

(20,861)

294

30,609

Total

41,043

157,974

7,431

(20,966)

2,427

187,909

Provisions for replacement and fees
This heading mainly relates to the inclusion of Saba Infraesructuras, SA into the scope of consolidation
(see Note Business combinations and changes in control). The Group includes the provisions for
replacement and fees that for which it will be responsible during the entire term of the service
concession arrangements that have been granted to it. After applying the intangible asset model set
forth in IFRIC 12, the Group has determined future actions that must be taken by the concessionaire in
order to maintain and restore its infrastructure. The corresponding provisions have been recognized on
the basis of the best estimates of the required disbursement.
Other responsibilities
The provision for Other responsibilities corresponds, inter alia, to the obligations assumed with regard to
the guarantees provided to the buyers in the divestment of companies that was recognized December
31, 2011. It consists of the best estimate on the related contractual commitments regarding the sale of
certain investments. At year-end, the payment schedule for the existing provision is from 1 to 3 years,
depending on the nature of the obligations.
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15.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

The detail of Financial Liabilities at Amortized Cost in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2011, based on the nature of the financial instrument giving rise to the liability, is as
follows:

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Bank borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total

Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011
Non-current
Current
Non-current
Current
3,310,680
323,610
3,815,160
337,113
40,786
7,087
3,310,680
364,396
3,815,160
344,200

The maturities of the Group's financial liabilities at December 31, 2011 are given below:

Type of financial item

Maturity (€ thousands)
Between 1 and
From 3 to 5
3 years
years

Less than 12
months

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Other financial liabilities
Total

323,610
40,786
364,396

2,799,700
2,799,700

Over 5 years or
no set maturity

75,506
75,506

435,474
435,474

15.1. Bank borrowings
At December 31, 2011 the detail of Non-current and current bank borrowings was as follows:
2011
Thousands of euros
Amount
Description
Credit facilities and lines

Limit
Between €225 and
750 million

Non-current

Current

Average
interest rate

Maturity

761,242

292,103

3.2% - 4.6%

June 2013

2,482,029

13,994

4.5% - 4.7%

Nov. 2013—Jan. 2028

Other

67,409

17,513

Total

3,310,680

323,610

Loans and credit

At December 31, 2011, the balance of Credit facilities and lines, which amounts to €753,654 thousand,
includes €514,837 thousand that relate to renewable credit facilities with CaixaBank.
At December 31, 2011, Non-current loans includes a loan from CaixaBank for €2,000 million, which
matures in November 2013.
In September 2011, Criteria CaixaHolding entered into a loan agreement with ”la Caixa” for €150,000
thousand, available in one or various drawdowns, which matures on December 31, 2013. At December
31, 2011, no drawdown had been made. This loan was cancelled on January 31, 2012.
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15.2. Other financial liabilities
The detail of Other current financial liabilities at December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 is as follows.
Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011
Trade payables
Guarantees received
Other payables
Other
Total

32,929
5,978
564
1,315
40,786

3,371
1,987
1,059
670
7,087

The increase in the year in Trade payables mainly relates to the inclusion of Saba Infraestructuras, SA
(€26,933 thousand) into the scope of consolidation (see Note Business combinations and changes in
control).

16.

Other non-current liabilities

16.1

Financial derivatives

The detail of derivative financial instruments, by category, is as follows:
Thousands of euros
31/12/2011

01/01/2011

LIABILITIES
Hedging derivative financial instruments
Cash flow hedges
Total non-current

15,268
15,268

-

Hedging derivative financial instruments
Cash flow hedges
Total current
Total derivative financial instruments

558
558
15,826

1,022
1,022
1,022

Cash flow hedges of current and non-current liabilities relate to interest rate swaps to convert variableinterest-rate debt to fixed-interest-rate debt, with an average interest rate of 2.10%-4.45%, most of
which have a maturity of over five years:

Type of financial item

Derivatives

Less than 12
months
558

Maturity (€ thousands)
Between 1 and
From 3 to 5
3 years
years
483

Over 5 years or
with no set
maturity

-

The table below provides information on the hedging derivative contracts at December 31, 2011:

14,785
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2011
Thousands of euros
Maturity (Notional)

Type of contract
Swaps
and
transactions

similar

Fair value
15,826

Notional
265,980

Average
interest rate
2.10%-5.42%

Less than 1
year
5,000

1 to 5 years

Over 5 years

72,115

188,865

Hedges have been entered into with CaixaBank on these for a nominal amount of €83 million. The
remaining instruments are arranged with other Spanish (€89 million notional amount) and foreign (€93
million notional amount) financial institutions.
Valuation model:
To determine the fair value of the interest rate derivatives (Swaps or IRS), the Group used valuations
based on the analysis of discounted cash flows, under the assumption that they are mainly based on the
existing market conditions at the balance sheet date, in case of non-listed derivative instruments.
16.2

Other long-term liabilities

The detail of Other long-term liabilities at December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 is as follows:
Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011
Commercial suppliers
Other payables
Other
Total

17.

Tax matters and income tax

17.1.

Tax assets and liabilities

134,045
3,198
90
137,333

85,448
2,339
87,787

The detail of tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 is as follows:

Tax assets
Deferred tax asset
By business combination
Tax loss carryforwards
Unused tax credits
Arising on valuation of cash flow hedges
Tax withholdings and prepayments
Tax – other items
Total

Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
01/01/2011
Non-current
Current
Non-current
Current
277,152
34,148

-

273,509
-

-

30,857
32,624
4,710
2

1,641
432,091

15,180
1,524
307
-

42
391,939

379,493

433,732

290,520

391,981
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Deferred tax asset includes €202 million relating to the differences between the cost for accounting and
tax purposes of investments and €59 million relates to the non-deductible accounting provisions, mainly
for the impairment of inventory and non-current assets held for sale.
Tax – other items includes €332 million relating to the estimated settlement of the 2011 income tax,
with a balance receivable of €331 million from “la Caixa” since its companies file under the special
consolidation regime.
Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
Tax liabilities
Other deferred tax liabilities
By business combination
Income tax
Other current tax liabilities
Total

Non-current
(280,582)
(70,143)
(350,725)

01/01/2011

Current
(2,684)
(5,079)
(7,763)

Non-current
(217,447)
(217,447)

Current
-

Other deferred tax liabilities includes €212 million for differences between the cost for tax and
accounting purposes of the investments.
17.2.

Income tax

Special consolidation regime
In 2011, Criteria CaixaHolding and some of its subsidiaries formed part of "la Caixa" tax group and filed a
consolidated income tax return under the special fiscal consolidation regime.
The composition of the consolidated tax group is shown in Appendix IV.
Reconciliation of accounting profit and income tax expense
The table below shows the reconciliation of the income tax expense recognized in the consolidated
income statement for 2011 to the corresponding income tax expense and the average effective tax rate:

Profit before tax (1)
Adjustments for
Result of companies accounted for using the equity method
Taxed profit
Gross tax payable (30%)
Adjustments to the tax charge:
Investment disposals taxed at lower rate
Tax credit for reinvestment of gains (disposal of investments)
Withholdings and other
Income tax (2)

-

Income tax for the year (income/(expense))
Adjustment to 2010 income tax
Profit after tax (1) + (2)

Thousands of euros
2011
4,939
(744,081)
(739,142)
221,743
(32)
(3,915)
(90)
3,973
223,558
221,711
1,847
228,497
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Change in deferred tax assets and liabilities
Changes in the deferred tax assets and liabilities and their impact on the income statement were as
follows:
Thousands of euros
Balance sheet
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax asset
By business combination
Tax loss carryforwards
Unused tax credits
Arising on valuation of cash flow hedges
Other
Total

31/12/2011

01/01/2011

277,152
34,148
30,857
32,624
4,710
2
379,493

273,509
15,180
1,524
307
290,520

Income
statement
2011
2,607
166
2,773

Thousands of euros
Balance sheet
Income
statement
Deferred tax liabilities
Tax liabilities resulting from valuation of available-for-sale financial
assets
Other deferred tax liabilities
Total
Net deferred tax liabilities

31/12/2011

01/01/2011

2011

(70,143)

-

-

(280,582)
(350,725)

(217,447)
(217,447)

-

28,768

73,073

2,773

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2011 are:
Thousands of euros
2011
Income statement
Current income tax:
Current tax
Prior years’ tax adjustments
Deferred tax:
Relating to changes in temporary differences

218,938
1,847

Income/(Expense) tax expense reported in the income statement

223,558

2,773

Thousands of euros
2011
Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
Deferred tax related to items charged or credited directly to Other
comprehensive income during the year:
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of cash flow hedges
Income/(Expense) tax expense reported in other comprehensive income

4,238
4,238
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17.3.

Years open for review

Under current legislation, tax returns may not be considered to be final until they have been reviewed by
the tax authorities or until the statute of limitations period has expired. The last four years since the close
of the statutory filing period are open for review by the tax authorities.

18.

Income and expenses

The detail of the main consolidated income statement headings is as follows:
18.1.

Revenue

The detail of this heading of the accompanying consolidated income statement for 2011 is listed below:

Revenue
Income from real estate activity
Income from sales and services
Lease income
Other operating income
Total

Thousands of euros
2011
30,193
29,345
16,324
75,862

At year-end 2011, the terms of the Group’s leases with lessees included the following minimum rental
payments, under the current leases, not including any charges for shared expenses, future rent
increases indexed to the CPI or other future rent rises under the lease (in thousands of euros):
Minimum payments, operating leases

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years
Total

Nominal
value:
2011
31,159
73,221
70,228
174,608

The rest of the Group’s operating leases are cancellable with prior notification, mostly of one month.
Therefore, there are no minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases under the
current leases.
Contingent payments recognized as income in the year amount to €2,080 thousand.
At year-end 2011, the terms of the Group’s leases with lessors included the following minimum rental
payments, under the current leases, not including any charges for shared expenses, future rent
increases indexed to the CPI or other future rent rises under the lease (in thousands of euros):
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Operating leases
Minimum Payments

Nominal
value:
2011

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

2,634
9,595
12,436

Total

24,665

Payments for operating leases and sub-leases, recognized, respectively, as expense and income for 2011
are as follows (in thousands of euros):
2011
Minimum lease payments
Contingent payments
(Sub-lease payments)

3,580
320
(161)

Total net

3,739

18.2.
Gains/(losses) on transactions with Group companies, jointly controlled entities and
associates
This heading includes primarily the gains or losses before tax of the transactions performed in 2011 in
relation to the investments held by the Group in Abertis, discussed in the Note Investments Accounted
for Using the Equity Method.
18.3.

Staff costs

The detail of Staff Costs in the accompanying consolidated income statement for 2011 is as follows:
Thousands of euros
2011

Description
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Termination benefits
Other staff costs
Total

20,208
3,879
76
2,731
26,894

During 2011, the average number of employees at the Group companies, by professional category, was
as follows:

Category
Senior and middle management
Clerical staff
Assistants
Temporary employees
Total

2011
Female

Male
115
81
293
44
533

Total
57
171
139
27
394

172
252
432
71
927

- 61 -

18.4.

Depreciation and amortization charge

The detail of Depreciation and amortization is as follows:
Thousands of euros
2011

Description

6,165
16,206
22,371

Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment and investment
Total property

18.5.

Net impairment losses

The detail of Impairment Losses Recognized/Reversed in the accompanying consolidated income
statement is as follows:
Thousands of euros
Description
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Available-for-sale financial assets
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Inventories
Total

18.6.

2011
Losses

Reversals
(Note 5)
(Note 6)
(Note 7)
(Note 9)
(Note 11)
(Note 10)

8,562
120,005
27,784
156,351

(106)
(2,834)
(19,745)
(104,903)
(203,154)
(300,472)
(631,214)

Net
(106)
(2,834)
(11,183)
(104,903)
(83,149)
(272,688)
(474,863)

Other operating expenses

The detail of Other operating expenses for 2011 is as follows:

Taxes
Non-current asset maintenance costs
IT and communications costs
Rentals
Printing and office materials
Managing and control bodies
Technical reports, professional services and legal expenses
Banking Services
Other
Total

Thousands
of euros
2011
65,287
5,394
3,259
2,882
2,267
951
941
924
7,104
89,009

The fees and expenses relating to the audit of the separate and Consolidated financial statements of the
Group companies in 2011 amounted to €391 thousand, of which €311 thousand were billed by Deloitte,
S.L. and other firms in its group or related to it, including tax consultancy work by Deloitte, SL or a
related company for a total of €5 thousand.
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The other financial audit-related services amounted to €17 thousand in 2011, all of which were billed by
Deloitte, S.L. and other firms in its group or related to it.
Also, the fees and expenses paid in 2011 for other services provided by the auditors amounted to €430
thousand at December 31, 2011, all of which were billed by other audit firms.
The entry into force of Law 15/2010, of 5 July, amending Law 3/2004, of 29 December, establishing
measures to combat late payment in commercial transactions, establishes the obligation for companies
to expressly publish information on the payment periods to their suppliers in the notes to the financial
statements. Pursuant to this disclosure obligation, on December 31, 2010, the corresponding resolution
was issued by the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute (ICAC) was published in the Official State
Gazette (BOE).
Pursuant to Transitional Provision Two of the aforementioned resolution, it is hereby disclosed at 31
December 2011, the amounts of trade payable invoices which deferment is over the Maximum Payment
Period (MPP) established by Law 15/2010 (85 days):
Thousands of euros
2011
Amount
%

Payments done and outstanding
at December 31, 2011
Done in the maximum period established by law
Other
Total payments for the year
MPP payments over the maximum legal period (days)
MPP payments exceeded (days)
Deferments at December 31, 2011 that are over the
maximum legal period

18.7.

389,673
2,734
392,407
198
113

99%
1%
100%

365

Other gains and losses

The detail of Other Gains and Other Losses in the 2011 consolidated income statement is as follows:

Description
Investment property
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Other
Total

Gains
1,542
66,187
132
67,861

Thousands of euros
2011
Losses
(3,089)
(139,571)
(1,364)
(144,024)

Net
(1,547)
(73,384)
(1,232)
(76,163)

Gains and losses from the disposal of investment properties and non-current assets classified as held for
sale, mainly relates to the Group’s real estate activity.
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19.

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

At December 31, 2011, cash and other cash equivalents had decreased by €1,266 million with respect to
January 1, 2011. Cash flows from operations (a negative €273 million) were mostly offset by the flows
used in investment activities (€256 million). Financing activities had in a negative cash flow of €1,249
million.
Cash flows from operating activity
The main disclosures relating to operating activities are as follows:

Adjustments to profit

Thousands of euros
2011

Depreciation and amortization charge
Impairment losses recognized (+)/reversed (–)
Changes in provisions (+/-)
Gains/Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment (+/-)
Net gains/losses on disposal of investments(+/-)
Net gains/losses on other items(+/-)
Result of companies accounted for using the equity method
Financial income (-)
Financial costs (+)

22,371
474,863
7,431
74,931
(35,529)
1,232
(744,081)
(2,547)
156,349

Total

Changes in working capital

(44,980)

Thousands of euros
2011

Tax receivables and payables
Other current assets
Other current liabilities
Inventories

(3,075)
17,865
39,951
(279,557)

Total

(224,816)

Cash flows from investing activities
The investments in Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates amounting to €189 million relate mainly
to the acquisition of Grupo Saba Infraestructuras, SA for the net amount of €141 million and to the
investment in UMR, SL amounting to €47 million.
Divestments in Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates for the amount of €100 million relate entirely
to the sales of Abertis Infraestructuras, SA shares in the year.
All the investments and divestments in the year were paid and collected in cash.
Cash flows from financing activities
Most of the financing obtained in the year was from CaixaBank, SA.
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20.

Fair value

The detail of the fair value of the financial instruments at 31 December 2011 recognized in the
consolidated balance sheet is as follows:
Thousands of euros
2011
Carrying
Fair value
amount

Description
ASSETS
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Short-term bank deposits
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

136,459
115,583
132
20,534
241,433
514,141

136,459
121,808
132
20,534
241,433
520,366

LIABILITIES
Liabilities at amortized cost
Derivatives
Other financial liabilities

3,624,556
15,826
50,520

3,622,034
15,826
50,520

Total

3,690,902

3,688,380

The fair value of financial instruments carried using a method other than fair value was calculated as
follows:
 Since cash and cash equivalents and certain current financial assets such as short-term deposits are
liquid instruments or mature within twelve months, their fair value approximates their carrying
amount.

 The fair value of the loans and receivables and financial liabilities at amortized cost was estimated by
discounting the expected cash flows using a market interest rate at each year-end. For borrowings
arranged at floating interest rates tied to market rates, the carrying amount and fair value thereof
are considered to be similar at year-end.
The table below shows the main financial instruments at December 31, 2011 broken down by the
method used to estimate their fair value:

Financial instruments
ASSETS
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans and receivables
Short-term bank deposits
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
LIABILITIES
Liabilities at amortized cost
Derivatives
Other financial liabilities

Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
-

128,215
115,583
132
20,534
241,433

8,244
-

-

3,634,290
15,826
40,786

-
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The movement within the Financial instruments classified as level 3, is the fllowing:
Thousands of euros

Available-for-sale financial assets

01/01/2011

Additons and
capital increase

Impairments

31/12/2011

9,466

224

(1,446)

8,244

The fair value of the available-for-sale equity instruments and the investments accounted for using the equity
method amounts to €7,871 million at December 31, 2011.

21.

Risk management policy

Following is a list of the risks that might affect the economic profitability of the Group’s activities, its
financial solvency and its corporate reputation:


Market risk: This includes the value of the ownership interests in other companies, classified as
available-for-sale financial assets, and changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates.



Liquidity risk: This relates mainly to the lack of liquidity of certain of its investments or needs
arising from their commitments or investment plans.



Credit risk: Arising when counterparties fail to meet their payment obligations and the possible
losses due to changes in their credit quality. Conceptually, this type of risk includes investments in
the portfolio of jointly controlled entities and associates, and available-for-sale investments
intended to be held on a long- term basis.



Country risk: Consists of the possibility of assets becoming impaired or of a decrease in funds
generated or transferred to the Parent as a result of political, economic and social instability in the
countries in which investments are held.



Operational risk: Relating to errors in the implementation and execution of operations.

In this connection, the Board of Directors carries out supervisory functions in relation to the
performance of the investees and periodically monitors the control and risk management systems in
place.
Management’s priority is to identify the main risks in terms of the most significant businesses and apply
policies with a high degree of decentralization in view of the wide variety of businesses and their high
level of specialization.
In conjunction with the Strategic Risk Management Division of Group ”la Caixa,” various methods and
tools are used to measure and monitor the risks:


For investments not classified as available for sale, and for investments classified as available for
sale but intended to be held on a long-term basis the most significant risk is default risk and,
therefore, the PD/LGD (Probability of Default and Loss Given Loss and loss severity) approach is
used.
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For other holdings classified as available for sale, the most significant risk is market risk and,
therefore, the market (VaR) approach is used.

These methods and tools make it possible to adequately assess and measure the group’s exposure to
the risk and, as a result, take the decisions required to minimize the impact of these risks with a view to
making the following more stable:


Cash flows, to facilitate financial planning and to be able to take appropriate investment and
divestment decisions.



The income statement, with the aim of promoting medium- and long-term stability and growth.



The value of equity, in order to safeguard the value of the investment made by the Group’s
shareholder.

The main risks and the policies adopted to minimize their impact on the Group’s financial statements
are as follows:
21.1.

Market risks

This refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument may vary as a result of changes in the price
of shares, interest rates or foreign exchange rates. Possible consequences of these risks are decreases in
equity and losses arising due to changes in market prices composing the investment portfolio, rather
than the trading portfolio, at medium to long term.
Price risk
At December 31, 2011, practically all of the Group’s investments in equity instruments related to listed
assets. Consequently, the Group is exposed to the market risk generally associated with the listed
companies whose shares fluctuate in price and trading volume due to factors beyond the Group’s
control.
When listed shares are scantly traded, the Group considers Net Net Asset Value (NNAV), rather than
quoted market price, as representative of fair value.
The Group has specialized teams that continually monitor investee transactions, more or less in
accordance with the degree of influence the Group has on these companies. The teams use a
combination of indicators that are updated periodically. Also, in conjunction with the Strategic Risk
Management Division of Group ”la Caixa,” investment risk measurements are taken, both from the
standpoint of the risk inherent in market price volatility, using Value at Risk (VaR) models on the riskfree interest rate yield spread as proposed by the New Basel Capital Accord (NBCA) for banks, and from
the point of view of the possibility of default (see Risk of credit), applying models based on the
Probability of Default and Loss Given Default (“PD” and “LGD”) approaches, also in accordance with the
provisions of the NBCA.
Interest rate risk
This relates mainly to changes in interest costs on floating-rate debt. Therefore, the risk is mainly linked
to the Group’s indebtedness. As part of its efforts to manage interest rate risk, the Group assesses the
sensitivity of the fair value of assets and liabilities to changes in the structure of the market rate curve.
Interest rate risk is managed and controlled directly by the management of the companies involved.
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The market interest rate affects the financial profit since most financial liabilities and certain financial
assets (basically cash and cash equivalents) are arranged at a floating rate (tied to EURIBOR).
Accordingly, there is considerable exposure to interest rate changes. The effect on profits, based on the
instruments indicated at the balance sheet date, is shown below:
€ million
Change

Effect on profit, net of
tax

-0.5%
+0.5%
+1%

5
(5)
(11)

The Group also has debt at a floating rate. The related exposure to changes in interest rates is mitigated
using swaps (cash flow hedges) and, therefore, would not have a material impact on profit.
At December 31, 2011 the Group had a €2,000 million fixed-interest loan maturing in 2013.
Exchange rate risk
The functional currency for most of the assets and liabilities in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet is
the euro. The main assets on the consolidated balance sheet subject to exchange rate fluctuations are
the assets located in Chile, which were included in the Group as a consequence of the business
combination with Saba Infraestructuras, carried out during the year. Nevertheless, it must be pointed
out that such assets represent only 0.75% of the Group’s total consolidated assets, and their
contribution to consolidated profit for the year is not material.
The Group may also be indirectly exposed to foreign currency risk through the foreign currency
investments made by the companies accounted for using the equity method due, in certain cases, to the
major international presence of these companies. These companies apply direct measures to mitigate
their exchange rate risk.
The Group’s policies, on the basis of the overall quantification of risk, take into account the advisability
of arranging either derivative financial instruments or debt in the same currency or currencies of the
economic environment as the assets in which the investment is made.
21.2. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk relates to the possibility of a company not being able to meet its payment obligations
because it cannot sell a financial instrument sufficiently quickly without incurring significant additional
costs. The liquidity risk associated with the possibility of converting financial investments into cash is of
little significance, as these investments are generally listed on deep, active markets.
In its investing activity, the Group takes into account in the management of its liquidity the generation
of sustained and significant cash flows by its businesses and investments and the capacity to realize its
investments, which, in general, are listed on deep, active markets.
Maturity of financial assets and liabilities of the Group is shown in the corresponding Notes to the
Consolidated financial statements.
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21.3. Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk of incurring losses through breach of contractual payment obligations by a
debtor or changes in the risk premium relating to the financial solvency of the debtor. The main credit
risk are the investments in associates, mainly listed associates, which is not the same as the risk related
to the market value of their shares.
The value of investments in jointly controlled entities and associates, €7,362 million, is in principle not
subject to the risk of a change in the price of the shares, since their market price does not affect the
figures in the consolidated balance sheet or consolidated income statement because of the way
investments of this nature are accounted for. The risk for the Group in investments of this nature is
associated with the performance of the business of the investee, and the possible bankruptcy thereof,
since the market price of the shares is a mere indicator. In general, this risk can be classified as a credit
risk. The tools used to measure these risks are models based on the PD/LGD (Probability of Default and
Loss Given Default) approach, also as provided for in the New Basel Capital Accord (NBCA).
21.4. Country risk
The Group’s policy for managing or mitigating country risk consists mainly of monitoring the geographic
area in which it makes its investments both before making the investment and periodically after the
investments have been made. In addition, country risk is taken into account when deciding on whether
to sell investments or spread them over different geographic areas.
21.5. Operational risk
This is defined as the risk of incurring a loss as a result of errors in operating processes. Operational risk
covers all those events that could give rise to a loss caused by shortcomings in internal processes,
human error, malfunctioning of information systems and/or external events.
The risk management process covers issues relating to systems and staff, administrative processes,
information security and legal matters. These issues are managed in order to establish adequate
controls to minimize possible losses.
The Parent has policies in place and a Procedures Manual as part of the continuous improvement of its
internal control systems and for the purpose of ensuring adequate control of operational risk through
controls designed to reduce or eliminate exposure to such risk.

22.

Contingencies and obligations

Contingent risks at December 31, 2011 stands at €78,956 thousand, the detail of which is shown below:

Description
Financial guarantees
Other contingent risks with third parties
Total

Thousands of euros
31/12/2011
45,299
33,657
78,956

The financial guarantees relate entirely to car parks and logistics parks businesses related to the
operation of service concession arrangements, of which €1,410 thousand corresponds to CaixaBank and
the remainder, to third parties. The due date of these financial guarantees is between 2018 and 2026.
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Other contingent risks with third parties relate mainly to guarantees issued primarily for attendance to
auctions related to the Group’s real estate activity.

23.

Segment reporting

General information
The Group presents its segment information in accordance with IFRS 8 in order to disclose the
information that makes it possible to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business activities
in which it engages and the economic environments in which it operates.
The standard requires that segment information be prepared and presented in the same way as it is
provided to management for making decisions about operating matters. To this end, the components
that share the nature of the products and services offered and the nature of the regulatory framework
to which they are subject are grouped together. This segmentation coincides, in general terms, with the
internal organization and information habitually used by management in conducting the Group’s
business.
Therefore, the operating segments defined by the Group are as follows:
-

The Industrial segment comprises stakes in industrial companies, including activity in the energy
sector (Gas Natural), infrastructure (Abertis and Saba) and other services (Agbar).

-

The Real estate sector includes the activities carried out by Servihabitat group: Servihabitat XXI (real
estate services group), Servihabitat Alquiler, Servihabitat Alquiler II, Servihabitat Alquiler III,
Servihabitat Alquiler IV (all of which are in engaged in real estate leasing), Estuvendimmo (engaged in
buying and selling real estate) and Estuinvest (real estate development); Estuimmo (a holder of real
estate investments and assets), Estullogimmo (which engages in real estate rentals); and
Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community (urban management and administration of the areas
adjacent to the Port Aventura theme park). In addition to such direct shareholdings, this segment
also includes indirect stakes in the Palau-Migdia (real estate development) and Norton Center
(focused on buying and selling real estate) companies.

The information included in the Other Non-Allocable column in the accompanying segment information
consists of the income, expenses and assets not allocable to any of the aforementioned segments and
makes it possible to reconcile the information with the amounts presented in the Consolidated financial
statements. This segment also includes stakes held by the Group in Port Aventura Entertainment and
UMR (hospital business).
Information about profit and losses and assets per operational segments
The procedure used to obtain the segment income, expenses and assets was to detail the contribution
of the companies allocated to each segment, after eliminations and adjustments on consolidation. Also,
each segment was allocated the amounts from the holding companies and the Parent that are
reasonably attributable thereto.
The goodwill and other intangible assets arising in the business combinations were allocated to the
related segments. Also, the impairment arising from the recognition of available-for-sale financial assets
at fair value were allocated to the related segments.
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In 2011, there were no significant transactions between the Group’s various segments and there were
no material inter-segment balances at December 31, 2011, except for the dividend income and balances
eliminated on consolidation.
The segmented information for 2011 is as follows:
Segment information for 2011

Thousands of euros
Ohers
Description

Income and expenses
Revenue
Result of companies accounted for using the equity method
Gains/(losses) on transactions with Group companies, jointly controlled
entities and associates

Industrial

Real estate

33,578
732,635

non-allocable

42,246
359

38
11,087

Total
Group
75,862
744,081

25,412

117

10,000

35,529

Depreciation and amortization charge
Other non-monetary items (*)

(6,996)
(106)

(15,281)
(475,038)

(94)
(7,150)

(22,371)
(482,294)

Finance income
Finance costs

555
(6,402)

1,355
(149,947)

637
-

2,547
(156,349)

Income tax
Consolidated profit for the year
Assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets additions
Property, plant and equipment additions
Investment property additions
Investments in associates and joint ventures
Total assets

(6,996)

227,210

3,344

223,558

751,820

(536,593)

13,270

228,497

1,023,758
194,077
262,018
82,788
8,952,368

2,397
426
37,012
5,316,740

730
1,048
47,474
257,282

1,026,885
195,551
299,030
130,262
14,526,390

(*) Not involving cash outflows or inflows. Basically correspond to asset impairments and provisions

Information about geographic areas
Of all of the Group’s subsidiaries, Saba Infraestructuras, SA is the only one whose activities are
geographically diversified. Saba Infrastructures’ operations in the various countries are organized and
managed separately. Each country is a strategic business unit carrying out the same type of activities as
the others but in different markets. The Group’s activities are divided among those in Spain, Europe and
Latin America.
Thousands of euros
2011
Non-current
assets
Spain
Europe
Latin America
Total

8,903,287
319,049
109,130
9,331,466

Revenue
64,336
8,991
2,535
75,862

By contrast, the business activities of most of the Group’s associates and jointly controlled entities are
highly diverse geographically, and a high percentage of recurring profits of the companies are obtained
in countries other than Spain. At December, 2011, about of half of revenue was generated outside
Spain: 15% in Latin America, 26% in Europe and 5% in the rest of the world.

- 71 -

24.

Related party disclosures

Transactions between Criteria CaixaHolding and its subsidiaries, which are considered related parties,
have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this Note. All transactions were carried
out in the ordinary course of business and on an arm's length basis. The transactions with its most
significant shareholders, members of the Board of Directors and senior executives are provided below.
24.1.

Significant shareholders

“Significant shareholders” means the shareholders with the right to propose a director or who have an
ownership interest in the Parent of more than 50%.
Since CriteriaCaixaHolding began conducting activities, “la Caixa” has been its Sole Shareholder. At
December 31, 2011, Criteria CaixaHolding was wholly owned by “la Caixa.”
24.1.1.

Description of relations with "la Caixa"

In view of the nature of the business activities carried on by the Parent’s main shareholder, the fact that
the Parent belongs to the group of companies controlled by ” la Caixa” and the complementary nature
of the business activities carried on by the Criteria CaixaHolding Group and the ” la Caixa” Group (e.g., in
the real-estate area), a large number of transactions took place with related parties in the period
covered by the historical financial information and it is foreseeable that they will continue to take place
in the future.
All transactions with related parties, as defined in Ministry of Economy and Finance Order
EHA/3050/2004, of 15 September, performed in 2011 were carried out in the course of the Group’s
ordinary activities and were performed on an arm’s length basis.
24.1.2.

Details of balances with “la Caixa” Group

All transactions performed with “la Caixa” Group were conducted during the ordinary course of business
and on an at arms’ length basis.
2011

Balances of Criteria CaixaHolding and
subsidiaries with "la Caixa" Group
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets
Total
LIABILITIES
Bank borrowings
Other liabilities
Total

Thousands of euros
Balance at
31/12/11
212,013
2,116
214,129

3,213,206
18,939
3,232,145

Cash and Cash Equivalents relates basically to cash investments of the Group companies in demand and
term deposits with CaixaBank. In particular, Criteria CaixaHolding had a balance of €129,714 thousand at
December 31, 2011, and that of the real estate companies was €38,759 thousand.
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Bank Borrowings relates basically to the financing obtained from CaixaBank, SA by the Group companies
in order to carry out their activities, including, most notably, the loans granted by CaixaBank, SA to
Group companies. These loans are detailed in the Note Financial liabilities at amortized cost, These are
predominantly long-term loans that the real estate companies have arranged with CaixaBank, SA.
At December 31, 2011 Other liabilities, in the amount of €2,968 thousand, includes hedge derivatives
entirely arranged by Saba Infraesructuras, SA with CaixaBank, SA, as well as €9,986 thousand
corresponding to the accrual of interest related to real estate subsidiaries.
In addition, it should be noted that in 2011 the Sole Shareholder received €200,000 thousand as an
interim dividend for 2011. At December 31, 2011 this amount was fully paid.
In September 2011, Criteria CaixaHolding arranged a loan agreement with ”la Caixa” for €150,000
thousand, available in one or various drawdowns and maturing on December 31, 2013. At December 31,
2011, no drawdown had been made. This loan was cancelled on January 31, 2012.
In October 2011, Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU purchased from "la Caixa” all of the shares of three dormant
companies, Caixa Assistance, SAU, Caixa Titol, SAU and Club Caixa I, SAU, for a total of €38 thousand.
On 16 December, 2011, CaixaBank, SA sold 80% of UMR, S.L., the owner of the hospital group, to
Goodgrower for €189,894 thousand, and Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU acquired the remaining 20% for
€47,473 thousand, at the same share price as that which was established in the sale of 80% of the share
capital to Goodgrower.
In addition, in December, 2011, and as a result of the ”la Caixa” group reorganization process described
in Note Group activities and general information, Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU acquired intangible assets
and property, plant and equipment from CaixaBank, SA for €160 thousand and €382 thousand,
respectively, which corresponded to the net carrying amount of these items at that date. In the same
month, the company recognized an addition of €226 thousand in intangible assets, relating to work
carried out by Serveis Informàtics la Caixa, S.A.
Lastly, the Parent has securities deposit agreements with CaixaBank, SA.
The detail of the most significant balances held by Criteria Group companies accounted for using the
equity method (associates and jointly controlled entities) with the “la Caixa” Group as a related party, is
as follows:
2011
Balances of companies accounted for using the equity method
with ”the Caixa” Group

ASSETS
Deposits, marketable securities and subordinated debt
Total
LIABILITIES
Other loans and advances
Total

Thousands of euros
Balances
at
31/12/2011

986,188
986,188

1,657,023
1,657,023
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Per the information available at the Parent, all the transactions between the jointly controlled entities
and associates and the companies of the ”la Caixa” Group were carried out on an arm’s length basis,
took place in the ordinary course of business and were of scantly material amounts in relation to the
understanding of the Group’s financial information.
Income and expenses accrued from transactions performed in 2011 were as follows:
2011

Balances with “la Caixa” Group

Thousands of euros
Companies accounted
Criteria CaixaHolding
for using the equity
and Group companies
method (*)

INCOME
Income sales and services
Other income
Finance income
Total

952
1,016
1,152
3,120

23,025
23,025

Other operating expenses
(556)
Fee and commission expense
(894)
Other losses
(20)
Finance cost
(150,075)
(151,545)
Total
(*) Reflected in the income statements of the respective companies.

(38,645)
(38,645)

EXPENSES

Income and Expenses includes the finance income and costs relating to the assets and liabilities
described above, and the fees relate mainly to the fees received by CaixaBank, SA in connection with the
management carried out by its branch network.
Income from sales and services related to income from leases of real estates received by Servihabitat
XXI, SAU.
Financial income of Criteria CaixaHolding and group companies with CaixaBank, SA reflects the income
obtained from deposits, with a balance of €1,149 thousand at December 31, 2011.
Fee and commission expense includes fees and commissions paid by the Group to CaixaBank for services
rendered by its branch network.
Finance cost includes financial expenses from advances, loans and credit facilities that CaixaBank has
granted to the Group companies.
24.1.3. Details of balances between Criteria CaixaHolding and subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities and associates
All transactions were carried out on an arm’s length basis and took place in the ordinary course of
business.
The balances between the Group and the jointly controlled entities and associates that were not
eliminated on consolidation are as follows:
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Balances with jointly controlled entities and associates

Thousands of euros
2011

ASSETS
Short-term financial investments
Other current assets
Total
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Other liabilities
Total
INCOME
Income from sales and services
Other income
Finance income
Total

71,630
126,997
198,627

2
106
108

195
35,450
933
36,578

The balance of Short-term financial investments corresponds to a receivable for the sale of two hotels
(Hotel Gold River and Hotel El Paso) and the Convention Center owned by Mediterránea Beach & Golf
Community, SAU to Port Aventura Entertainment, SA in October 2011 for €110 million.
Other current assets include dividends accrued by Gas Natural stake, collection of which was pending at
December 31, 2011.
Other income includes earnings on the sale of shares of Abertis Infraestructuras for €25,412 thousand.
24.2.

Contracts with the Sole Shareholder

The Parent and “la Caixa” entered into the following contracts in 2011:
-

On September 8, 2011, the Company entered into a loan agreement with ”la Caixa” for
€150,000 thousand. The loan bears interest at the 1-month Euribor rate plus 250 basis points
and matures on December 31, 2013 (see Note Financial liabilities at amortized cost).

-

In October 2011, Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU purchased from "la Caixa” all of the shares of three
dormant companies, Caixa Assistance, SAU, Caixa Titol, SAU and Club Caixa I, SAU, for a total of
€38 thousand.

24.3.

Remuneration of directors

The detail of the fees for attending meetings of the management bodies and other remuneration
received by the members of the Board of Directors of Criteria CaixaHolding and of the remuneration
received by them for representing the Parent on the Boards of Directors of listed companies and other
companies in which the Parent has a significant presence or representation in 2011 is as follows:
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2011

Remuneration paid by Criteria CaixaHolding
Remuneration paid by other companies
Other remuneration paid by Criteria CaixaHolding to
Directors that have been part of management during 2011
Total

Thousands of euros
743
458
211
1,412

The expenses incurred by Criteria CaixaHolding in relation to a third-party liability insurance premium
paid to cover the directors and executives amounted to €12 thousand in 2011.
No contributions to pension plans of the members of the Board of Directors have been made by the
Company in 2011.
Criteria CaixaHolding does not have any pension obligations to former or current members of the Board
of Directors in their capacity as such or any other obligations to them other than those described above.
No termination benefits in the event of the unilateral removal by the Parent of the members of the
managing bodies of Criteria CaixaHolding exist at December 31, 2011.
In 2011, the directors of the Parent did not perform any transactions with the Parent or Group
companies other than in the normal course of business or other than on an arm’s length basis. Also,
none of these transactions is of a significant amount that might hinder the proper interpretation of the
Group’s Consolidated financial statements.
24.4.

Remuneration of executives

In 2011 the remuneration paid to management, which includes the members of the Management
Committee, amounted to €384 thousand. Moreover, during 2011, €74 thousand were received for
attending the Board Meetings of investees.
No contributions to pension plans of the members of the Management Committee have been made by
the Parent in 2011.
24.5.

Other disclosures concerning the Board of Directors

Article 229 of the Spanish Corporate Enterprise Act, requires Board members to disclose the direct or
indirect interests that both they and any parties related to them hold in the share capital of a company,
the activity of which is identical, similar or complementary to that constituting the corporate purpose of
the company in question, as well as any positions or duties they may have in these companies.
Additionally, it stipulates that Board members must report any direct or indirect conflicts of interest
they may have with the company. This information must be included in the notes to the company’s
annual financial statements.
Under Article 230 of the Spanish Corporate Enterprise Act, the directors may not engage, as
independent professionals or as employees, in an activity that is identical, similar or complementary to
the activity that constitutes the company object of Criteria CaixaHolding, unless expressly authorized do
so through a resolution of the shareholders at a General Meeting.
For these purposes, the Company’s directors have disclosed the following information:
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Director

Company

Line of business

%

Nº
Shares

Position

Company
represented

Gonza l o Gortáza r Rotaeche

Hi s us a -Hol di ng de Infra es tructura s y
Servi ci os Urba nos , S.A.

Hol di ng

-

-

Di rector

-

Jea n-Loui s Cha us s a de

GDF Suez Fra nce

Hol di ng/Util i ties

-

-

Jea n-Loui s Cha us s a de

Suez Envi ronnement Compa ny

Hol di ng/Util i ties

0.00%

5,000

Jea n-Loui s Cha us s a de

Suez Envi ronnement Es pa ña , S.L.
Hi s us a -Hol di ng de Infra es tructura s y
Servi ci os Urba nos , S.A.

Hol di ng

-

-

Hol di ng

-

-

Jea n-Loui s Cha us s a de

Si no-French Hol di ngs Ltd.

Hol di ng/Util i ties

-

-

Jea n-Loui s Cha us s a de

Sems i ta Aus tra l i a Pty Ltd.

Hol di ng/Util i ties

-

Jea n-Loui s Cha us s a de

Acea Spa

Hol di ng/Util i ties

-

Jua n Ma ría Ni n Génova

Ja p 99 SIMCAV, SA

Hol di ng/Inves tment

Jua n Ma ría Ni n Génova

Al pa jua , SL

Hol di ng/Inves tment

Jua n Ma ría Ni n Génova

Vi da Ca i xa Grupo, SA

Peopl e rel a ted to Mr. Ni n
Peopl e rel a ted to Mr. Ni n

Jea n-Loui s Cha us s a de

Member of the Ma na gement
Commi ttee a nd Executive
Commi ttee
Di rector a nd CEO

-

Ma na gi ng Di rector
Cha i rma n of the Boa rd of
Di rectors
Cha i rma n of the Boa rd of
Di rectors

-

-

Di rector

-

-

Di rector

-

100.00%

-

-

-

97.00%

-

-

-

Hol di ng/Ins ura nce

-

-

Di rector

-

Ja p 99 SIMCAV, SA

Hol di ng/Inves tment

-

-

Di rector

-

Al pa jua , SL

Hol di ng/Inves tment

3.00%

-

Di rector

-

-

The Parent intends to propose at the next General Shareholders’ Meeting that the appropriate
authorization be obtained for the aforementioned directors to be discharged and they are expected to
be approved without any exceptions.
Notwithstanding the above, it should be noted that the range of activities included in the Parent object
is very broad, as it includes all the lines of business carried on by the investees, in addition to the line of
business of the holding company itself. Holding positions in any company with an identical or similar
activity does not per se result in a conflict of interest as there is no effective competition between
Criteria CaixaHolding and any other holding company. The Parent Company considers that such a
conflict would only arise if the directors held ownership interests in, or discharged positions at,
companies engaged in the acquisition and management of a securities portfolio that was in competition,
or resulted in a conflict of interest, with Criteria CaixaHolding.

25.

Information on the environment and corporate social responsibility

In view of the Group’s business activities, it does not have any environmental expenses, assets,
provisions or contingencies that might be material with respect to its equity, financial position or profits.
Therefore, no specific disclosures relating to environmental issues are included in these notes to the
financial statements.
With the close cooperation of CaixaBank and ”la Caixa,” and through its “Active Management” policy,
involving its presence in the governing bodies of its investees, the Group continues to develop internal
processes for assessing and controlling the social and environmental risk of its investees in order to be
able to guarantee that these organizations work in a responsible and ethical manner.
The energy companies and utilities in which the Group has ownership interests have well defined
corporate responsibility strategies and, in addition, are multinationals which report periodically using
best reporting practices in relation to the implementation of their sustainability strategies. Their
commitment and responsibility have been acknowledged by various Spanish and international bodies in
prestigious rankings or indexes such as, among others, “Monitor Español de Reputación Corporativa”
(Spanish Corporate Reputation Monitor), “The Good Company Ranking 2007” and “FTSE4good.” The
Port Aventura group also has advanced practices in place with respect to these issues, as shown by its
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commitment to United Nations international initiatives (the Global Compact). In addition, it has received
awards for social matters and environmental certificates, such as the EMAS certificate. This certificate,
which has been awarded for 10 consecutive years, was presented to the Group in 2011 by the
Government of the Autonomous Community of Catalonia.
26.

Events after the reporting period

Royal Decree Law 2/2012 on the restructuring of the financial system was approved on February 7,
2012. It establishes several regulatory requirements aimed at improving the health of real estate assets
held by the Spanish banking sector. The Group believes that application of the new requirements set
forth in this Royal Decree could affect the Spanish real estate market as the write-down of the most
problematic assets held by financial institutions could have an impact on the overall value of real estate
assets. In this regard, the Group will continuously monitor the value of its real estate assets, recognizing,
if applicable, losses arising from valuation of such assets.

27.

Explanation added for translation to English

These Consolidated financial statements are presented on the basis of the regulatory financial reporting
framework applicable to the Group (see Note Regulatory framework for financial reporting applicable to
the Group and true and fair view). Certain accounting practices applied by the Group that conform with
regulatory framework may not conform with other generally accepted accounting principles and rules.
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APPENDIX I
Investments in Group companies
Thousands of euros

Company and line of business

Address

% interest
Direct
Total

Reserves and
Share
Interim
capital
dividends

Other
equity

Profit

Dividends
accrued in
the year
from direct
investments

Total
equity

Net
carrying amount
from
direct
investments

Estuimmo, SAU
Shareholder and owner of property assets

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

100.00

100.00

7,182

4,951

(5,379)

-

6,755

-

6,755

Estuinvest, SL
Real estate development

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

0.00

100.00

3

(12,854)

(29,258)

-

(42,109)

-

-

Estullogimmo, SLU
Property rentals

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

100.00

100.00

6,000

(1,478)

(3,579)

-

943

-

943

Estuvendimmo, SLU
Purchases and sales of property

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Spain

0.00

100.00

3

499

(8,393)

-

(7,891)

-

-

Inversiones Autopistas, S.L.
Holding company

Av. Diagonal, 621-629
08028
Barcelona
Spain

50.10

50.10

100,000

(19,584)

89,654

-

170,070

44,871

154,551

Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community, S.A.
Operation and administration of urban areas associated
with theme park

Hipólito Lázaro
43481
La Pineda - Vila Seca Tarragona
Spain

100.00

100.00

135,135

(18,261)

(16,830)

(379)

99,665

-

116,802

Norton Center, SL
Construction and development of estates

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

0.00

100.00

5,000

(6,072)

(1,158)

-

(2,230)

-

-

Saba Infraestructuras, SA
Management of car parks and logistics parks

Av. del Parc Logístic, 22-26
08040
Barcelona
Spain

55.76

55.76

73,904

396,949

85

30,329

501,267

-

222,526

Servihabitat Alquiler II, SLU
Management and administration of homes under lease

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

0.00

100.00

3

(19,598)

(9,326)

(28,921)

-

-

Servihabitat Alquiler III, SA
Management and administration of homes under lease

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

0.00

100.00

16

(3,137)

(346)

(3,467)

-

-

Servihabitat Alquiler IV, SA
Management and administration of homes under lease

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

0.00

100.00

15

(4)

-

-

11

-

-

Servihabitat Alquiler, SL
Management and administration of homes under lease

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

0.00

100.00

10,503

(21,110)

(12,348)

-

(22,955)

-

-

Servihabitat XXI, SAU
Real estate services

Provençals, 39 (Torre Pujades)
08019
Barcelona
Spain

100.00

100.00 3,453,800

(594,921)

(631,514)

-

2,227,365

-

2,194,449

-

-
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APPENDIX II
Investments in jointly controlled entities and associates
Thousands of euros

Company and line of business

Addresss

% interest
Direct
Total

Share
capital

Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A.
Transportation and communication infrastructure
management

Av. del Parc Logístic, 12-20
08040
Barcelona
Spain

19.65

23.54 2,327,969

Gas Natural, SDG, S.A.
Gas and electricity

Plaça del Gas, 1
08003
Barcelona
Spain

35.27

35.27

Hisusa-Holding de Infraestructuras Y Serv.Urbanos, S.A.
Holding company

Torre Agbar. Av. Diagonal, 211
08018
Barcelona
Spain

24.26

Palau-Midgia, S.L.
Real estate development

Gran Vía Jaume I, 9
17002
Girona

Port Aventura Entertainment
Theme park operations

UMR, S.L.
Management

Reserves and
interim
dividends

Other
equity

Profit

Total
equity

Dividends
accrued in
the year
from total
investments

Carrying amount
of direct
Share price
shareholdings 31/12/2011

Average price
last quarter

16,292

720,094 1,351,358

4,415,713

257,773

1,424,900

12.34

11.77

991,672

10,347,467

1,325,785 1,776,465

14,441,389

126,978

4,679,383

13.27

12.99

24.26

372,170

1,302,291

89,314

-

1,763,775

22,537

639,059

-

-

-

50.00

3,523

3,377

772

-

7,672

-

-

-

-

Avinguda Alcalde Pere Molas, km 2
43480
Vila Seca
Tarragona
Spain

50.00

50.00

77,579

1,921

26,460

(1,275)

104,685

21,502

39,818

-

-

Príncipe de Vergara, 110
28002
Spain

20.00

20.00

5,647

185,560

-

-

191,207

-

47,473

-

-

Note: The information for the listed companies relates to the data published in the CNMV at December 31, 2011
and, for the unlisted companies, to the most recently available data (actual or estimated) when the notes to the financial statements were drafted.
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Available-for-sale financial assets- Equity instruments

Compa ny a nd l i ne of bus i nes s

Addres s

Thous a nds of euros
Di vi dends
a ccrued i n
the yea r
% i nteres t
from di rect
Sha re pri ce
Avera ge pri ce
Di rect Total
i nves tments
31/12/2011 l a s t qua rter 2011

Metrova ces a , S.A..
Rea l es tate devel opment

C/ Qui ntana vi des , 13
28050 Ma dri d
Spa i n

0.36

0.36

-

1.04

1.14

Inmobi l i a ri a Col oni a l , S.A.
Rea l es tate devel opment

C/ Pedro de Va l di vi a , 16
28006 Ma dri d
Spa i n

5.79

5.79

-

2.29

2.70

Al i a nci a Zero, S.L.

C/ Jos é Echega ra y, 8
28232 Ma dri d
Spa i n

4.24

5.23

-

-

-

-

19.89

-

-

-

Real estate services

Vehícul o de Tenenci a y Ges tión 9, S.L.
Real estate services

Pa s eo de l a Ca s tel l a na , 89
28046 Ma dri d
Es pa ña
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APPENDIX IV
List of Companies forming the tax group
The composition of the “la Caixa” consolidated Group for 2011 income tax purposes is as follows:
AgenCaixa, SA Agencia de Seguros
Aris Rosen, SAU
BuildingCenter, SA
Caixa Capital Biomed, SCR de Régimen Simplificado, SAU
Caixa Capital Micro, SCR de Régimen Simplificado, SAU
Caixa Capital Risc, SGECR, SA
Caixa Capital Semilla, SCR de Régimen Simplificado, SA
Caixa Corp, SA
Caixa de Barcelona Seguros de Vida, SA de Seguros y Reaseguros
Caja de Ahorros y Pensiones de Barcelona (Parent Company of the fiscal Group)
CaixaBank, SA
Caixa Girona Gestió, SGIIC, SAU
Caixa Girona Pensions, EGFP, SA
Caixa Preference, SAU
CaixaRenting, SA
Centro Médico Zamora, S.A.
Corporación Hipotecaria Mutual, EFC, SA
Criteria Caixa Holding, SA (*)
e-la Caixa 1, SA
Estugest, SA
Estuimmo, SA (*)
Estuinvest, SL (*)
Estullogimmo, SLU (*)
Estuvendimmo, SLU (*)
FinanciaCaixa 2, EFC, SA
Finconsum, EFC, SA
GDS - Cusa, SA
General de Inversiones Tormes, SA
GestiCaixa, SGFT, SA
Holret, SAU
InverCaixa Gestión, SGIIC, SA
Limpieza y Mantenimientos Hospitalarios, SL
Lince Servicios Sanitarios, SA
Mediterránea Beach & Golf Resort Community, SA (*)
Norton Center, SL (*)
Nuevo Micro Bank, S.A.U.
PromoCaixa, SA
Servihabitat Alquiler II, SLU (*)
Servihabitat Alquiler III, SA (*)
Servihabitat Alquiler IV, SA (*)
Servihabitat Alquiler, SL (*)
Servihabitat XXI, SAU (*)
Silc Immobles, SA
Silk Aplicaciones, SA
Suministros Urbanos y Mantenimientos, SA
Trade Caixa I, SA
Valoraciones y Tasaciones Hipotecarias, SA
VidaCaixa Grupo, SA
VidaCaixa, SA de Seguros y Reaseguros
VidaCaixa Mediación
Note: The tax group also includes 65 companies that are currently dormant.
(*) Criteria CaixaHolding, S.A.U. Group companies

-1-

Criteria CaixaHolding, SAU and subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR 2011

1

The Group’s performance in the year and its outlook for the future

Criteria CaixaHolding is the “la Caixa” Group investment company, with shareholdings in strategic
sectors like energy, infrastructure and services and real estate. It seeks to create value by actively
managing its portfolio of investments.
The gross value of the Criteria CaixaHolding portfolio, at 31 December, 2011, was €10,196 million. The
portfolio includes top-tier companies that are leaders in their respective fields, with a great capacity to
create value and profitability.
Criteria CaixaHolding has its registered office in Barcelona and is wholly owned by Caixa d´Estalvis i
Pensions de Barcelona ("la Caixa").
Management principles
Criteria CaixaHolding drives the growth, development and profitability of its investees through an active
management approach. It has an in-depth knowledge of the sectors in which it operates, a strong track
record as an investment company and highly experienced management teams.
To this end, its everyday work consists of identifying, analyzing, researching and evaluating new
business and investment and divestment opportunities.
Criteria CaixaHolding plays an active role in the governing bodies of its investees. The Group
collaborates with the management teams of these investees in defining their future strategies and
contributes to the medium-to-long-term development of their business activities.
Medium-to-long-term investment approach
Criteria CaixaHolding’s active management philosophy implies a medium-to-long-term investment
horizon that maximizes value with a focus on corporate development and involvement in the strategies
of its investees and invest and divest at the right time.
Criteria CaixaHolding is a consolidated business project which combines investments in listed companies
that are leaders in their fields with stakes in non-listed companies offering recurring returns within
manageable risk levels.
At December 31, 2011, the value of Criteria CaixaHolding's portfolio stood at €10,196 million (with gross
latent gains of €286 million) and was broken down as follows:
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22%

Other 1

22%

4%
6%

46%

1

Saba, Mediterránea, Grupo Hospitalario, Port Aventura, Colonial and
Metrovacesa

Highlights for the period
-

Reorganization of the “la Caixa” Group
In June of 2011, the reorganization of the “la Caixa” Group was successfully concluded. As a
result “la Caixa,” the majority shareholder of CaixaBank (following a merger between Criteria
CaixaCorp and Microbank) transferred its banking business to CaixaBank in exchange for the
majority of its business related to management of industrial holdings (Abertis, Gas Natural
Fenosa, Aguas de Barcelona, Port Aventura and Mediterránea) plus new shares of CaixaBank
issued through a capital increase.
Subsequently, “la Caixa” combined the industrial holdings it had received from CaixaBank with
its real estate business (Servihabitat group, Inmobiliaria Colonial and Metrovacesa) in Criteria
CaixaHolding.

-

Saba Infraestructuras
Within the scope of Abertis’ corporate restructuring in 2011 and to provide the conditions
necessary to prepare the group’s five business units (toll roads, telecommunications, airports,
car parks and logistics parks) for a new growth stage, Saba Infraestructuras, SA was
incorporated in April 2011 to oversee Abertis’ car parks and logistics parks businesses.
On July 27, 2011, Abertis paid an extraordinary dividend which shareholders could receive
either in cash or shares of the new Saba Infraestructuras. Following this distribution, “la Caixa,”
through its Criteria CaixaHolding subsidiary, opted to receive shares for €82,706 thousand,
giving it a direct 20.72% stake in the company. Abertis holds 78.06%, with the remaining 1.22%
held by minority shareholders. On October 26, 2011, once the pertinent authorizations were
given, Abertis sold its entire shareholding in Saba Infraestructuras SA to Criteria CaixaHolding
for €161,866 thousand (giving it control of the company with a 61.28% stake) and to
investment companies Torreal and ProA Capital, thereby completing the group’s
reorganization.
Finally, on December 13, 2011, shares of Saba Infraestructuras were sold to the KKR investment
group. As a result, the company’s shareholder structure has become as follows: Criteria
CaixaHolding 55.8%, Torreal 20%, ProA Capital 10.5%, KKR 12.5% and non-controlling
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shareholders 1.2%. The value of shares sold by Criteria CaixaHolding to KKR was €22,046
thousand. This transaction did not have any effect on the income statement of Criteria
CaixaHolding.
The new Saba Infraestructuras, an unlisted company, is the leading car park operator in Spain
and one of the largest in Europe, with 198 car parks and 129 thousand parking spaces. It has
operations in more than 80 cities and towns in Spain, Italy, Chile, Portugal, France and Andorra.
The logistics business, with 730 hectares of area, entails the promotion, development, design,
management and operation of logistics parks in Spain, Portugal, Chile and France.
-

Acquisition of 20% of the hospital group (UMR)
In 2011, CaixaBank signed an agreement with the Goodgrower group, a private investment
company owned by the Gallardo family, for the sale of 80% of hospital group (UMR), of
SeguCaixa Adeslas, for €190 million. The transaction was completed on December 16, 2011.
CaixaBank sold the remaining 20% to Criteria CaixaHolding for €47.5 million.
Hospital group (UMR) is made up of 10 private hospitals, which were acquired by the “la Caixa”
group in 2010 through the purchase of Adeslas, the Spanish health insurance leading company.
Goodgrower and Criteria CaixaHolding have formed a long-term strategic alliance with the aim
of contributing to the stronger development of the independent private hospital business and
improving service and quality for their clients.

Investee portfolio

GAS NATURAL (35.27%)
Gas Natural Fenosa is one of the leading multinational companies in the gas and electricity sector,
operating in 24 countries with around 20 million customers and 15.8 gigawatts of installed power.
Today, Gas Natural Fenosa is the largest integrated gas and electricity company in Spain and Latin
America, leading the natural gas sales market in the Iberian Peninsula and the biggest distributor of
natural gas in Latin America. With a fleet of 10 tankers, the company is a reference in LNG and natural
(1)
gas distribution throughout the Atlantic and Mediterranean Basin, where it operates 30 bcm .
2011 highlights
In 2011, Gas Natural Fenosa continued to develop its asset divestment policy in order to reduce its level
of indebtedness and comply with the requirements of the national anti-trust authorities following the
acquisition of Unión Fenosa. In particular, the sale of assets pertaining to the distribution and sale of gas
in Madrid was formalized for €488 million, which yielded a gross profit of €295 million, in addition to the
sale of the Arrúbal combined cycle power plant (800 MW) for €313 million and the Plana del Vent
(400MW) plant for €200 million. The sale of the group's electricity distribution business in Guatemala
was also agreed for €239 million.

(1)

billion cubic meters
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In June 2011, Gas Natural Fenosa and Sonatrach settled the dispute relating to the price review for gas
supplied through the Magreb-Europe pipeline between January 2007 and May 2011. Gas Natural Fenosa
agreed to make a payment in the amount of $1,897 million and the parties set the groundwork for
future collaboration. In August 2011, Gas Natural Fenosa carried out a capital increase without
preferential subscription rights in order to allow Sonatrach to take a 3.85% share in its capital
(amounting to €515 million).
(1)

In November 2011, Gas Natural Fenosa signed its largest LNG supply contract with Cheniere, a US(2)
based company. The agreement includes an annual volume of close 5 bcm over a 20-year period
starting 2017.
Corporate social responsibility
For Gas Natural Fenosa, corporate social responsibility encompasses a series of actions aimed at
fostering trustworthy, stable, solid and mutually beneficial relationships with its stakeholder groups.
Therefore, Gas Natural Fenosa upholds seven commitments related to corporate social responsibility
with its stakeholders: customer focus, commitment to results, respect for the environment, interest in
people, health and safety, commitment to society and integrity.
Gas Natural Fenosa has been a member of the FTSE4Good index since 2001, the year of its
incorporation. In 2010, the Dow Jones Sustainability Index (a collaboration between the SAM indexes
and Dow Jones Indexes) recognized Gas Natural Fenosa as a world leader in the utilities sector, and in
2011 it was awarded a "Silver Class" rating in the gas distribution sector. Gas Natural Fenosa adheres to
the United Nations Global Compact and collaborates with various associations, such as Forética and the
Corporate Excellence Foundation.

ABERTIS (23.54%)
Abertis operates in the toll roads, telecommunications infrastructure and airports sectors. It is one of
the leading companies in Europe in the field of mobility infrastructure and telecommunications. The
company operates in 15 countries through its different areas of infrastructure management. In recent
years it has diversified both its business and geographical presence, and today approximately one-half of
its revenues are generated outside Spain.
2011 highlights
On January 14, 2011, Abertis sold its entire stake (6.68%) in the Italian toll road concessionaire Atlantia
for €626 million, generating a gain of €151 million.
In 2011 and as part of its business restructuring process, Abertis spin off its car park and logistics parks
businesses to Saba Infraestructuras. Subsequently, it paid an extraordinary dividend with Saba
Infraestructuras shares and sold the remaining stake to Criteria CaixaHolding (which obtained a
controlling stake of 61.28%) and to other investment companies, ProA Capital and Torreal. Finally, on
December 13, 2011, shares of Saba Infraestructuras were sold to the KKR investment group. As a result,
the company’s shareholder structure has become as follows: Criteria CaixaHolding 55.8%, Torreal 20%,
ProA Capital 10.5%, KKR 12.5% and non-controlling shareholders 1.2%.
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The tenders for two roads in Puerto Rico (PR-22 and PR-5) were finalized in September 2011. The
concessions are for a period of 40 years and were awarded to the consortium comprising Abertis (45%)
and the Goldman Sachs Infrastructure Partners II investment fund (55%).
In addition, in January 2012, Abertis sold a 16% stake in Eutelsat for €981 million, generating a capital
gain of €396 million. In February, the company reached an agreement with Telefónica for the acquisition
of 13.2% of Hispasat for €124 million.
Corporate social responsibility
Abertis considers social corporate responsibility as a way of understanding the company’s role in
society, taking into consideration the environmental, social and economic impacts of its activity and
relationships with various stakeholder groups.
Abertis’ Strategic Corporate Responsibility Plan is its road map, involving participation in various
initiatives, such as the United Nations Global Compact Office, the Carbon Disclosure Project and Dow
Jones Sustainability index, among others. Abertis has renewed its presence in the Dow Jones
Sustainability Index (DJSI) World for the sixth consecutive year, obtaining an above-average score in the
three dimensions assessed: economic, environmental and social.

AGUAS DE BARCELONA (24.13%)
Aguas de Barcelona (Agbar) is an international benchmark in the field of water services and
environment. With a total asset volume of close to €6,000 million, it is the leading private operator in
the Spanish urban water management sector, supplying water to more than 1,000 towns. Worldwide,
Agbar provides service to over 26 million inhabitants in Spain, Chile, the United Kingdom, Colombia,
Algeria, Cuba, Mexico and Peru.
2011 highlights
In 2011, Agbar continued to develop its domestic and international business activities. In Spain, the
1
company was awarded 8 new sewerage contracts (approx. 60,000 inhabitants), 5 new water supply
2
contracts (approx. 30,000 inhabitants), 12 new drainage system contracts (approx. 320,000 inhabitants)
and 7 new contracts for managing sewage stations. On the international level, Agbar continued to roll
out its Water Sanitation Plan in the Santiago basin in Chile, with the intention of obtaining 100%
coverage in waste water processing in 2012.
The main corporate transactions carried out by Agbar in 2011 were as follows: sale of a 70% stake in
Bristol Water (United Kingdom) for almost €152 million (maintaining the remaining 30% stake) and the
sale of 71.6% of Jiangsu Water (China) for approximately €57 million.
At the same time, in 2011 Agbar launched Agualogy, a new brand that draws on the knowledge of the
group for the purposes of providing solutions and value-added technologies adapted for customers
needs and new markets. Aqualogy focuses on environmental technology and operation, management
solutions and knowledge technologies.
1

Sewerage water: End client distribution
Water supply: Collection, transport and treatment of water

2
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Corporate social responsibility
Corporate social responsibility for Agbar stems from the services it provides, within the framework of
good corporate governance, ethical conduct and transparency of information. On a daily basis, this is
implemented through its initiatives to protect the environment, its use of clean and advanced
technologies, investment in R&D+i and its commitment to the communities in which it operates.
Ultimately, it consists of two-way communication with its stakeholders. The aim is to meet the
expectations of millions of people all over the world every day, guaranteeing the long-term
sustainability of the company.
For the fourth year in a row, Agbar has achieved a "Gold Class" rating in the Sustainability Yearbook
prepared by Sustainability Asset Management (SAM), in recognition of its conduct in the area of
corporate responsibility.
Agbar forms part of the Spanish Association of the United Nations Global Compact, which fosters the
adoption of Global Compact principles among Spanish companies.

SABA INFRAESTRUCTURAS (55.76%)
Saba Infraestructuras is the result of the spin off of Abertis’ car parks and logistics parks businesses,
through its branch Saba Aparcamientos. It is the leading operator of car parks in Spain and one of the
biggest operators in Europe with 198 car parks and 129 thousand parking spaces in over 80 cities and
towns in Spain, Italy, Chile, Portugal, France and Andorra. The logistics business, with 730 hectares of
surface area, is carried out through Saba Parques Logísticos and entails the promotion, development,
design, management and operation of logistics parks in Spain, Portugal, Chile and France.
2011 highlights
Saba Infraestructuras was incorporated in April 2011, encompassing Abertis’ car parks and logistics
parks businesses.
In 2011, Saba Aparcamientos was awarded the tender for managing, among others, the Girona-Costa
Brava airport car park with 7,690 parking spots and two car parks in Italy (Trieste, with 654 parking
spaces, and Cremona, with 254 parking spaces). It has also opened a car park in Las Cardosas, Porto,
with 327 parking spaces.
In the area of logistics parks, in March 2011 Privalia launched its first logistics center in Parc Logístic in
the Zona Franca in Barcelona, 50% of which is owned by Saba Parques Logísticos and 50% by Consorci de
la Zona Franca.
Consorci de Parcs Logístics (CPL), 20% owned by the Autoridad Portuaria de Barcelona and 80% owned
by Saba Parques Logísticos, started operating in April 2011. This company owns a 44% stake in Cilsa,
which operates the Zona de Actividades Logísticas (ZAL) in Barcelona, as well as 100% of ZAL Toulouse
and 100% of Parque Logístico Penedés.
In February 2012, Saba reached an agreement with the City Council of Rome to redraft the plans to
enlarge the Villa Borghese car park. With an estimated investment of €141.6 million, the project extends
the existing contract to convert Villa Borghese into a parking complex and include an area for residents,
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with 360 spaces. It will enable Saba to manage the complex under a service concession arrangement for
a period of 54 years, until 2061.
Corporate social responsibility
Saba Infrastructuras views Corporate Social Responsibility as an opportunity to run its business in a
manner aligned with ethical criteria and respect for individuals, the environment and culture.
In the management sphere, Saba has developed its own integrated model, which applies criteria of
excellence in three specific areas that are directly related to social responsibility: environmental policies,
quality of service and occupational health and safety.

PORT AVENTURA (50%)
PortAventura remains a benchmark resort in Spain and southern Europe. It is the premier theme park in
Spain in terms of revenues, visits and profitability, and one of the leading parks in southern Europe by
number of visits. Since it first opened in 1995, PortAventura’s privileged location on the Costa Dorada
(Tarragona) and steady growth through the ongoing creation of new attractions has made the park a
sector reference. This is reflected in the high number of visitors in 2011 (3.7 million).
The resort currently comprises a 39-attraction theme park, over 100 daily shows, 44 stores, one water
park, four hotels with a capacity of over 2,000 rooms, and a convention center with capacity for 4,000
people.
2011 highlights
PortAventura opened its 16th season with the launch of a new family-oriented theme area, Sésamo
Aventura. This investment of approximately €11 million forms part of the investment plan announced by
shareholders in December 2009, aimed at creating long-term value.
At the end of 2011, the company acquired a convention centre and two other hotels owned by
Mediterránea Beach and Golf Community, although they were managed by Port Aventura
Entertainment. This brought under one umbrella the ownership and management of all park-related
assets.
In 2011, construction also started on a new attraction, “Shambhana”, which will be the highest in
Europe (76m tall and 1.6 km long), slated to open in the spring of 2012.
Corporate social responsibility
As in prior years, the company continued meeting its commitment to developing its Corporate Social
Responsibility program (CSR). Acting through Fundación PortAventura, created in 2010, the company
carries out actions aimed at supporting and integrating groups at risk of social exclusion, especially
children and young adults, through donations and events, such as the First Charity Dinner that took
place in September 2010. This event raised €56 thousand, which was donated in full to the Cerebral
Palsy Association of Tarragona. In addition to this action plan, PortAventura allocates 0.7% of its gross
profits to this project.
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MEDITERRÁNEA BEACH (100%)
Mediterránea Beach & Golf Community is the owner of a 600,000 square meter developed land reserve
and the three-course Lumine Golf Club, designed by Greg Norman and Alfonso Vidaor. Since 2010, the
golf clubs have been managed by Troon Golf, an international company with over 20 years' experience
and a successful history of managing, developing and promoting top-level golf clubs.
2011 highlights
The company owned two hotels and a convention center, which at the end of 2011 were sold to the
company that managed these assets, PortAventura Entertainment. This allowed the company to dispose
of non-strategic assets while improving future costs.
Corporate social responsibility
Lumine Golf Club maintains the high quality standards, recognized and accredited by the International
Gold Signature Sanctuary certificate from the Audubon Society, one of the oldest, most respected and
exigent conservation organizations. This award recognizes some of the best golf courses in the world for
their respectful and sustainable integration in their natural surroundings.

UMR (20%)
th

Hospital group UMR ranks as the 5 leading operator in the Spanish hospital market in terms of
revenues, with volumes of over €190 million and a market share of 3.2%. In 2011, the hospital group
managed over 1,000 beds, 200 outpatient offices and over 50 surgery rooms. The hospital network
covers ten Spanish provinces, where it maintains a leadership position regarding its competitors (over
60% in Almeria and Vitoria, and over 40% in Vigo and Granada).
The group mainly targets the private sector, following an open management model. SegurCaixa Adeslas
is its biggest customer.
The loyalty of its customer portfolio is one of the group’s distinguishing traits. It has an excellent
relationship with insurance companies due to structure as an open hospital group, which does not
require exclusivity and collaborates with all principal companies in the sector.
2011 highlights
In 2011 the group experienced a moderate increase in revenues. The strong increase in revenues from
the main insurance companies was offset by lower revenues from the Spanish Public Health System and
Workplace Accidents Associations due to the difficulties experienced by the national public health
system and Spanish labor market.
In the future, hospital group UMR will continue to focus on sustainable growth, including, among other
measures, substantial investments in the expansion and maintenance of hospitals, the development of
new specialty medical services, investment in the latest health-related technologies and increasing
client segments. These measures are upholding the solid position held by the company on the Spanish
health market.
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Corporate social responsibility
The group maintains its social corporate responsibility commitment in a decentralized manner on the
basis on activities carried out by the hospitals, which position them as socially- responsible companies,
committed to their environment. Noteworthy is the collaboration of Hospital de Vigo with a wheel-chair
basketball tournament and a foundation that provides aid to the handicapped. A number of other
hospitals helped with social campaigns promoted by children’s aid associations.
A permanent feature of the UMR group's management policy is its search to find and achieve excellence
in the quality of its centers. The Group has carried out a substantial level of investment in technology
and facilities, so that all group hospitals meet the required quality levels.

SERVIHABITAT (100%)
Servihabitat is the real estate services company belonging to the “la Caixa” Group that is involved in all
phases of the real estate cycle: from purchase or investment in assets (by virtue of auctions, direct
investments or dation in payment) to sales or leasing, as well as the development and transformation,
management and administration of these assets.
2011 highlights
In the light of the restructuring of “la Caixa” Group’s banking business, from April 2011 Servihabitat
discontinued its practice of asset purchases proceeding from lending activities.
In a context characterized by a growing number of available properties and a significant reduction in
demand, which has caused prices to fall, Servihabitat intervened in a slightly smaller volume of
transactions than in the prior year. Specifically, Servihabitat sold 8,774 properties in 6,698 transactions,
for the total amount of €895 million, including 861 new lease contracts.
One of the keys to its success was the new promotional campaign on the Spanish market, "You name
the price", whereby potential customers were given the opportunity of naming their own price for the
assets offered by the company.
Corporate social responsibility
The values that govern the daily activity of Servihabitat in this sector are based on the principles of
transparency, quality and trust, which are projected onto its relationships with customers and suppliers.
Servihabitat has implemented at all organizational levels the regulation governing the Prevention of
Money Laundering, which is also part of the business activity of external real estate experts. Therefore,
the company has developed the Code of Conduct for its employees in line with basic Human Rights.
Servihabitat forms part of the United Nations Global Compact and provides annual progress reports with
future action plans.
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2

Risk management

Criteria CaixaHolding’s main risk stems from its investee portfolio.
This risk arises from a possibility of losses as a result of changes in market prices and/or the bankruptcy
of companies included in the investee portfolio with a medium-to-long-term horizon.
Criteria CaixaHolding, in conjunction with Group “la Caixa” Strategic Risk Management Department,
measures the risk on these positions. It does so both in terms of the risk inherent in market price
volatility, for which it applies VaR (value at risk) models to the yield spread on the risk-free rate, as
proposed in the New Basel II Capital Accord (NBCA) for banking institutions, and from the viewpoint of
probability of default, for which it uses models based on PD/LGD (Probability of Default/Loss Given
Default), also in accordance with guidelines set out in the NBCA.
These indicators are monitored on an ongoing basis to be able, at anytime, to take the most appropriate
decisions on the basis of the market performance observed and predicted and of the Group’s strategy.
These measures and their implementation are an essential part of monitoring investee portfolio
management and of the strategic decisions in relation to the composition of the portfolio that are taken
by senior management.
Also, as part of the active management of the investments and of the ongoing monitoring thereof,
expert teams from the Group track the performance of investees. At least once a year, and whenever
there are indications that the Company’s investments may have become impaired, internal impairment
tests are conducted using generally accepted valuation methods.
Particularly, to ensure that the portfolio of real-estate assets is recognized at its actual value in the
Group’s consolidated balance sheet, the assets are valued by appraisal firms approved by the Bank of
Spain in accordance with applicable regulations. Appraisals are performed frequently: more than half of
the assets have been appraised within the last year and almost all of the remaining assets have been
appraised within the last two years.
Real-estate assets acquired are managed in order to later be sold and thus recover the capital invested.
The strategies established are as follows:
-

Land development: The economic volume of assets classified as “rural land” is immaterial with
regard to the assets acquired taken as a whole. Nonetheless, certain procedures still have to be
completed for some plots that are suitable for development in order for them to be developed,
such as completion of planning process, redistribution of plots or the development of urban
infrastructure, etc. These procedures are performed through Servihabitat’s specialized services
pursuant to very strict investment criteria. They are only performed when the investment
ensures that the value of the affected assets will be maintained.

-

Completion of housing developments: The Group’s acquisition criteria restrict purchases of
property developments in progress. A number of minor measures to improve some of these
developments are made to ensure that they can be sold. These measures are performed using
the technical resources and experience of Sumasa, a “la Caixa” Group subsidiary, also pursuant to
very strict investment criteria.

-

Property developments in exchange: This involves mobilizing certain land by assigning it to a
developer in exchange for part of the finished product in the property development. This strategy
is followed in very limited circumstances and following very strict criteria for selecting the
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property developer with regard to solvency and the ability to complete the project. This strategy
enables land that has been initially acquired to be converted into a finished product, which
makes it easier to trade on the market.
-

In-house property development: Restricted to very specific transactions where the asset’s quality
and characteristics mean that developing the asset is the clearest and most secure means to
recover the investment and generate a positive margin. In 2011, the Group’s development
activity was small, limited mainly to the completion of certain developments started by the
former Caixa de Girona.

-

Rental: A means of benefiting from rising demand and generating recurring income without
forcing a sale in a market with increasingly fewer buyers facing difficulties accessing credit. This
strategy also involves a social dimension when former owners are offered the opportunity to rent
the property they have handed over in lieu of their debt in order to allow them to continue living
in it, or when it boosts Social Welfare Rentals campaigns in collaboration with the “la Caixa”
Welfare Fund.

-

Sale: The Group implements an intense sales campaign through a multichannel system – Internet,
CaixaBank branches, Servihabitat offices, and estate agents, etc. – drawing on Servihabitat’s
experience and capability, which continuously positions it as a benchmark in terms of sales
volume and brand recognition and innovation.

Criteria CaixaHolding has policies to minimize the other risks to which the Group is exposed, such as
credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. Evaluation procedures have been
established whereby management decides at any given time whether or not the risks assumed should
be hedged using financial instruments (see Note Risk management policy in the Consolidated financial
statements).

3

Use of financial instruments

The Group uses financial derivative instruments in order to hedge the financial risks to which it may be
exposed. These derivatives are designated, from an accounting perspective, as interest rate hedges of
cash flows. The Group uses derivative financial instruments, mainly interest rate financial swaps, for the
purpose of minimizing the impact of potential interest rate fluctuations in relation to its variable-rate
debt
.
4

Post-balance sheet events

Royal Decree Law 2/2012 on the restructuring of the financial system was approved on February 7,
2012. It establishes several regulatory requirements aimed at improving the health of real estate assets
held by the Spanish banking sector. The Group believes that application of the new requirements set
forth in this Royal Decree could affect the Spanish real estate market as the write-down of the most
problematic assets held by financial institutions could have an impact on the overall value of real estate
assets. In this regard, the Group will continuously monitor the value of its real estate assets, recognizing,
if applicable, losses arising from valuation of such assets.

- 12 -

5

Research and development activities

The Group did not engage in any research and development activities.

6

Treasury share transactions

At December 31, 2011, the Group companies did not possess treasury share of the Parent.

